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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  . . . Health informational hearing.  The topic of our hearing today is the “1994 Memorandum of Understanding Regarding Primary Care Physician Training by the University of California.”  With that, let me provide some opening remarks.

It is my pleasure to begin this hearing on a very critical issue regarding the supply of primary care and family practice physicians in our state.  I’m happy to sponsor this hearing today with a number of other joint committee hearings.  We welcome the Black Caucus, the Asian Caucus, Senator Alarcón’s Select Committee on University and College Admissions and Outreach, and other interested parties to join us.


In February, a similar group of committees and caucuses held an informational hearing on the University of California Medical School Admissions Policies and Diversity Within the California Healthcare Workforce.  At that time, it came to the committee’s attention that in 1994, after increasing concern in state government, the Legislature, and the University of California regarding similar and what remain persistent questions today on California’s health workforce needs, an agreement was entered into in the form of a Memorandum of Understanding.  The purpose of that MOU was to increase the number of practicing primary care physicians in the State of California.  That was in 1994.  Here we are eleven years later, and it’s our opportunity to determine whether or not that MOU produced results in where we are today.


Fulfillment of the terms of that MOU, its impact, and activities beyond the reporting period prescribed by the Memorandum of Understanding were unclear at that time, so I made a commitment to have this committee come back in an informational hearing to delve further into the mechanics of the Memorandum of Understanding:  whether or not the terms and conditions were met, what the problems were with the implementation of that Memorandum of Understanding, and how we can craft better strategies for the future as we continue to grapple with the large, difficult, persistent challenges in our state’s healthcare system, such as large, chronic health disparities, a vulnerable safety net, high numbers of uninsured persons—we have roughly 6.6 million uninsured in the State of California—and vast needs for healthcare within underserved communities.

A recent report from the Center for Healthcare Workforce Studies forecasts even greater strains into the year 2015 in our system due to the population outpacing physician production.  It leaves California with an overall shortage and a worsened situation in our currently, incredibly underserved regions.  The needs for primary care physicians and the underserved cannot be separated from the profile of students trained out of the UC campuses to become those very specialists.  The average ratio of primary care physicians to the population in California is currently 77 primary care physicians per 100,000 residents as compared to the average ratio of non-primary care or sub-specialists—re:  specialties that may not provide the general healthcare in underserved area to population—where we have about 114 sub-specialists per 100,000.  So, again, nearly twice—well not quite, but almost nearly twice—of sub-specialists that are not general primary care physicians, which are more likely to address our underserved areas, that our University of California medical schools are churning out.


We will hear from our first two speakers more about this profile and the context of this agreement that was entered into in 1992—I think operative in ’94—designed to address this problem.  The MOU was an agreement entered into principally through the University of California and the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development to address the undersupply in the workforce of primary care physicians.  The goals of that agreement were ambitious, and the Senate Office of Research and UC have concurred on the numbers thus far that show that the UC was not able to meet its numerical targets.

The committee looks forward to hearing from the University of California on the details of the implementation of that Memorandum of Understanding and what we can learn from the barriers that made implementation difficult.


The primary questions for this hearing are:

· What can the University of California do as a publicly supported educational institution to address the healthcare workforce needs in a better way as we face severe shortages in the future, learning from the tool of the MOU?
· What are some creative and innovative strategies that the University of California can formulate and implement to produce more primary care physicians who are capable and, quite frankly, motivated to serve in the underserved areas throughout the State of California?

· How can we incentivize the system to shift distribution of primary care physicians so that they serve in the neediest populations and regions of our state?

And, finally, a critical question:

· Can we grow the capacity for the University of California to produce more physicians overall, keeping in mind the goals implicit in this question?

As public-supported institutions, we have to ask:  What can the UC system do to attract, train, and produce more physicians, particularly those specializing in primary care, to eventually serve in needed areas and underserved communities?  In response to this hearing, these committees and caucuses, if they’re joining us today, may consider reenacting the reporting requirements of that MOU—and these are all subject to discussion further in the hearing—and/or revising the general and numerical goals of this Memorandum of Understanding now that, hopefully, we will become more informed about its implementation, or creating, possibly, a taskforce to evaluate the University of California’s preparation efforts to address the physician workforce needs of the State of California, among other options.


With that, let’s move quickly into the first panel.  Let me ask those who are participating on that panel to come forward.  The participants on the first panel include Marlene Garcia, who is consultant with the Senate Office of Research and who has prepared quite a bit of background information on this Memorandum of Understanding which addresses, certainly, the topic of this hearing:  California’s healthcare workforce shortage.  She will also be joined by Mr. Pablo Rosales, who is the deputy director—you may want to come forward, Mr. Rosales—who is here representing the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development.  He is the deputy director of the Healthcare Workforce and Community Development Division within the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development.  This will frame the issue by way of background and context of this Memorandum of Understanding and how it relates to what we had attempted to achieve—and may or may not have achieved as of this date—regarding increasing primary care physicians.


Welcome.


MS. MARLENE GARCIA:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  My name is Marlene Garcia.  I’m with the Senate Office of Research.  I’m an education policy consultant, so this is new for me to present before the Health Committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sure you’re going to do an excellent job, so thank you.

MS. GARCIA:  But I am familiar with the University of California, so I was asked to look at the MOU and the agreement established between UC and the State of California to increase the number and proportion of primary care physicians and assess whether UC has met the terms of this agreement.  

So, what I plan to do is give a brief summary that led to the development of the MOU, specify the terms of the MOU and UC’s compliance, identify or highlight a few remaining issues, and then just make some final comments about the current and future workforce physician needs and the state’s capacity to address this demand.


As Senator Ortiz mentioned, the MOU was established in 1994 at a time when there was a push nationwide, actually, to try and maintain at least 50 percent primary care residents to non-primary care residents in residency programs around the country.  In addition, in California, there were several pieces of legislation that specified that UC was to in fact maintain this at least 50 to 50 ratio of primary care to non-primary care physicians.  Both bills were ultimately vetoed, but in then-Governor Pete Wilson’s veto message—the second bill and both bills introduced by then-Assemblymember Phil Isenberg—the Governor’s veto message indicated that he was vetoing this legislation because UC had entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the State of California, monitored by OSHPD, to systematically increase the number of these physicians.  

Also, the Legislature adopted supplemental report language in the 1994 budget that specified the reporting requirements and indicated that UC was to report annually between 1995 and the year 2000-2001, which they have done.  They have submitted all their reports, and the last report was issued in 2002, which is where I drew the information and the data about their compliance with the terms of the MOU.  Also in September 2002, OSHPD confirmed that UC had complied with the terms and conditions of the MOU.  However, OSHPD did not issue a final report assessing UC’s compliance.


So, what I’d like to do is turn your attention to a table which is at the back of a report that you have.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hold up the front page.

MS. GARCIA:  It’s the background paper.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Background paper document.  Got it.


MS. GARCIA:  The final page includes a table that outlines the terms of the MOU and specifically what we achieved in the course of the last eleven years.  

What was established was the actual MOU did establish that at least 50 percent to 50 percent primary care and non-primary care resident physicians should be achieved.  UC, in its internal calculations, actually determined that at that time it believed it could reach a ratio of 55 to 45 percent primary care to non-primary care residents.  The base year for this MOU was 1992-93, and at that point in time, the ratio of primary care to non-primary care physicians was 45 to 55.  By 2001, UC had in fact exceeded the at least 50:50 ratio and had achieved a ratio of 52 to 48 primary care to non-primary care residents.


For family practice, the MOU specified that UC was to work toward a goal of approximately 20 percent.  It wasn’t specific 20 percent, as was in the legislation, but that was the agreement reached in the MOU.  In the base year, family practice residents comprised about 12 percent of the overall UC resident positions.  And, by 2000-2001, the end of the reporting period, family practice residents rose to 17 percent of the overall number of UC residents.  That was an increase of about 43 percent, but it fell short of the toward and approximate goal by 3 percentage points.  

What UC did is backed into numerical targets, so the actual numbers that resulted from these goals were primary care.  UC in the MOU said it would add 445 new primary care positions, and they were able to add 357 new primary care positions, falling short of the MOU target by 88 positions.  Family practice, UC projected that it would add 364 new family practice positions by 2001, and it actually added 224 positions, falling short about 140 positions.

For non-primary care, during the time that the MOU was established, the conventional wisdom at the time was that there was really an oversupply of physicians.  So, the terms of the MOU specifically stated that there wasn’t to be an increase in funding or resident physicians but, rather, a redirection.  Because of that, then, UC calculated that it would reduce its non-primary care positions by 452.  And, by 2001, it had reduced those positions by 282, falling short of the MOU target by 170 positions.  

So, those were the terms of the MOU.


At the time the MOU was drafted, there wasn’t a lot of workforce physician data.  Some have argued that the goals were arbitrary, and others have argued that they were the best we could do and that it was a helpful tool to get started.  But there are some remaining issues today that I’d like to highlight and I think others can probably address more thoroughly.


One is, is that the reporting requirements did last from 1995 through 2000-2001, so they have expired.  But the MOU itself, it’s not clear whether that has expired.  I think some would argue that it didn’t expire because there was no reference to expiration of the MOU.  So, one question is what the current figures and ratios are for primary care to non-primary care and whether there’s been additional progress made in the number of family practice or in reducing non-primary care positions.


Another issue that came out of this review was taking a look at the growth of affiliates.  What this is, is the family practice positions, a large group of these positions actually come by way of UC affiliations with other hospitals—private or community-based hospitals.  By 2001-02, approximately 80 percent of all family practice positions were affiliate-based.  Actually, if you look at the growth between 1992-93 and 2000-2001, about three-quarters of the growth in family practice positions were with the affiliates, and about a quarter of the growth came from UC-based, UC-funded residency positions.  

So, the question that I raise with regard to the affiliates is, this seems to be an important way in which we develop our family practice residency training, so it’s important to look at these training programs and especially to look at the role UC plays with these affiliates and to clarify issues such as educational support services and, overall, whether there’s consistency in the way these agreements are established with affiliate programs.


The other issue is how to report internal medicine.  Internal medicine, residents are reported at 100 percent, but most agree that many of these residents actually go into other subspecialty areas and that there should be a way to calculate or count internal residents in a way that reflect the actual number that end up in primary care, and that would give us an actual gauge for planning purposes in the future.

Another issue that’s important is, in the reports—and I reviewed several of the reports that they issued throughout the years—there was a summary of what each campus had done to develop outreach efforts or change curriculum to in fact draw more support for family practice or primary care areas.  While the summaries were helpful, they didn’t provide specific details about number of students served or resources provided in these areas, nor did they provide any assessment of how effective these initiatives were working.  Also, there wasn’t a lot discussion or focus on the development of the pipeline, which appears to be a key issue in looking toward the future.


And then finally, the balance between primary care and non-primary care physicians, in 1994, when the MOU was established, it was pretty much a zero-sum game, and we shifted non-primary care to primary care.  In today’s market, there seems to be growing evidence that there is a need for greater supply and to look at shortage areas, certainly within the primary care specialty areas; but also, certain subspecialty areas appear to have shortages as well, especially in certain parts of the state that are more rural in nature.


There are a few other issues about the market today, or the current workforce physician market today, and that is that we have very limited training capacity in California.  UC hasn’t increased its medical school enrollment or its residency positions for about 25 years.  That coupled with the growth in population in California, which was 14 percent just during the period of the MOU, there appears to be a strong need for expanded capacity.  As a matter of fact, California leads the nation in exporting California students who go to medical school outside the state.  The future, again, the population growth projections, along with increasing healthcare needs of an aging population and many physicians who are nearing retirement age, suggest we’ll have, even, a further shortage.


So, where do we go from here?  You’re going to hear from the experts.  They have the answers.  But it seems, after reviewing these materials and speaking with various experts, that there are a few key points to keep in mind as you consider the issues.  One is, there is strong evidence that California needs to increase capacity.  However, with this growth, there should come new incentives to direct some portion of this growth in high-need areas.  This involves greater institutional promotion of primary care as well as certain subspecialty areas that are also in short supply, and it also requires the development of economic incentives to draw more physicians into what are currently lower-paying specialty areas.


There’s also a need for a concerted and strategic effort to build the pipeline with pre-med medical students and, ultimately, resident physicians with demonstrated interests in going into primary care and specialties and practicing in these underserved areas.  This also must look at the diversity of students who are coming through those pipelines and where they plan to practice once they go into the medical profession. 


Finally, the university must be a strategic partner with the state in addressing the overall supply of physicians trained, the appropriate mix between primary care and non-primary care, and the geographic distribution of physicians in order to meet California’s long-term needs.


I’m happy to answer any questions.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Garcia.  

Let me just welcome my colleague and chair of the Senate Select Committee on College and University Admissions and Outreach who’s been a leader in this area:  Senator Alarcón.  Let me invite him to make some comments.  I’m happy to reframe some of the issues because I think you provide a very, very thorough analysis, but I’ll wait until Senator Alarcón makes his opening comments.


SENATOR RICHARD ALARCÓN:  Well, let me just say thank you to Senator Ortiz for convening this group effort pursuing this issue.  The shortage of healthcare, I believe, is absolutely tied to California’s ability to produce doctors who care about their local communities and focus on family practice.  This is where the rubber meets the road.  We are dumping hundreds of millions—in fact, billions—of dollars into healthcare for this constituency group that otherwise would probably be served better by having more family practitioners returning to their communities. 


I believe that Senator Ortiz has tapped into something that needs to be re-explored, and moving forward will produce greater accountability and, most importantly, more access to healthcare for all throughout California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Senator Alarcón.


Before we hear from Mr. Rosales, I just think there’s been a lot of time and attention put on a couple of historic key documents and places and time in this Legislature in the presentation by Ms. Garcia.  Let me reframe the issue for those who are not as engrossed in this and immersed in this as I’ve become—and certainly, she’s become more than I have.  


What my predecessor in the Assembly, then-Assemblymember Isenberg, embarked upon was a novel way of approaching the University of California’s medical schools—not so novel, but the only way we can address some of the policymaking is through their budget—by attempting to define their goals and objectives to produce more primary care physicians.  The logical question for the uninformed is:  Why primary care physicians?  It’s because they generally—although some would debate—are the ones that are serving as the generalists in the providing of healthcare.  That’s not to take anything away from the subspecialties.  But he noted at that time, in the late ’80s, early ’90s, that, in fact, we had not kept pace with turning out in our publicly supported, tax-supported public medical schools in the UC system those very providers of healthcare in California that were going to serve in areas in which we needed then and need even more so—doctors who will serve.

His effort to do that through a piece of legislation that resulted in a veto then resulted in a veto message by then-Governor Wilson that outlined the rationale for his vetoing of the Isenberg bill and announced the agreement between the University of California and the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development to then enter into an MOU or an agreement or a contract that would actually meet certain goals.  Those goals are reflected in Ms. Garcia’s presentation.  She touched on the outcome of whether or not the University of California, in fact, met those goals, which will be the primary focus of our hearing today:  those percentages to increase the number of primary care physicians; whether or not that was met, and, if so, the manner in which it was met, and whether it indeed achieves the intent of that agreement; specifically whether the counting of primary care physicians or family practitioners and sub-specialists are accurately reflected, particularly as it relates to the arrangement with affiliates, which is a lot of detail, a lot of general overview, but really is going to take all of our attention to understand what that means and the implications, not just in the 1994 terms but where we are here in 2005.  We’re even further behind the current, at least my opinion is, than we were in ’92 or ’94, and we have a greater problem of serving the underserved in the State of California.  We continue to have an institution that is paid for by the very people who are lacking access to healthcare, whether they’re in the urban areas and they’re the urban working poor or uninsured or underinsured or whether they’re the rural county system that’s very fragile in its healthcare delivery system.  I don’t believe the UC system has been able to adequately educate and move out and attract those who are going to provide care in those underserved areas.


But we’ll let the University of California make its case, as well as OSHPD.  I’m just looking for that chart that showed the conclusion of Ms. Garcia’s numbers.  And, if I can quickly—yes.  Let me just reiterate this presentation.

Ms. Garcia’s presentation broke up not only the general goals of primary care physicians and family practitioners by percentage totals, but went into the numerical targets.  And they’re relevant, again, as we look at them in categories of primary care, family practice, and non-primary care.  Non-primary care is sort    of. . . . in the most simplistic of references, we’re churning out plastic surgeons for value in society, but we’re neglecting producing primary care physicians and/or family practitioners who are more likely to be of great value in underserved areas and that we’ve fallen short of that primary care as well as family practice those goals set forth in the MOU.  We’ll probably hear from the UC that they met them, substantially met them, but I encourage those who are in this committee or watching that we ought not to be fooled by small numbers that appear to be shortfalls.


For example, 88 less primary care resident positions are significant when you look at what those 88 primary care physicians could do in Merced or Madera or Bakersfield or up north in Butte County or even in urban Los Angeles or in the growing Inland Empire.  Those are significant ratios of primary care physicians that we don’t have that should be serving the uninsured or the underinsured versus the specialists that we’re churning out:  170 more than we were to have dedicated our scarce resources in our medical school education dollars by producing specialists that are not serving in these underserved areas than by default or probably defined as serving in overserved areas, if there’s any place in the State of California.


So, I think these numbers are really, to me, very important.  Again, let’s make sure that we understand.  Those were goals that were set for the ’92-94 period of time.  There’s some dispute as to whether or not this MOU’s in place.  I think it is.  So, these are terms that are, in years, behind us, so our need is even greater today, and these numbers in today’s terms are even further problematic.


Let me just say at the onset that I’m not blaming this solely on the University of California.  I think we have a bigger problem, which is we have not kept pace with the medical school education system that is producing enough physicians.  Not only do we have a maldistribution problem, but we have a finite set of slots in medical schools that are exacerbating the problems.  It takes about a 15-year turnaround time to actually build a medical school, if we’re fortunate enough to build a medical school in the future, or two.  

My recommendation—and Senator Alarcón will be in this institution a couple of years longer than I will.  I wish that there were others here that we could encourage to become very committed to this issue in their time left in the Legislature.  Our goal ought to be that any medical schools that are built in the future in this state ought to be committed to producing primary care physicians or family practitioners.  That ought to be a principle and an objective; that we all ought to understand why it’s important to make a commitment to it.  I’m anxious to hear whether or not the UC and others believe that that’s part of this long-term solution to our healthcare crisis in California.


With that, let me invite Mr. Rosales to address the committee.  Before you begin, Mr. Rosales, OSHPD is here to testify on background regarding the primary care physician and general healthcare workforce supply in California.  I’ve been informed that due to some circumstances, Mr. Rosales is unable to testify on the MOU and point, which is unfortunate—I wish you could address the MOU, or someone from OSHPD could, since you’re a party to that MOU.  But I do hope to draw together a hearing on the OSHPD MOU oversight and workforce planning for the future.  Please convey that to Mr. Carlisle, and hopefully, we will then be able to hear from the department on their participation, specifically on this contract that you’re a party to that was supposed to produce certain results that some of us think may not have been produced.


So, with that caveat, welcome, Mr. Rosales, and hopefully, you’ll shed some light on this issue in general.


MR. PABLO ROSALES:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and Senator Alarcón and members of the audience.

My name is Pablo Rosales, and I am the deputy director for the Healthcare Workforce and Community Development Division in OSHPD.

Let me throw a qualifier in my discussion here.  While we have not addressed all the issues and activities that were in the MOU between OSPHD and the University of California, there is a progressive analysis being done at this point on the seventh report that was issued.  So, we will be looking at having information down the road in terms of substantiating the compliance or noncompliance of some of the activities that were within the MOU.


Secondarily, I’d like to say that I want to thank you, Mrs. Garcia, for that fine presentation because I think you’ve identified many of the concerns that certainly we have within the department relative to some of the ongoing shortages in the healthcare arena.  We concur with a lot of your findings, and I look forward to reading your report.


Obviously, as we all know, as Senator Ortiz has pointed out, we do have a humongous task and a daunting task before us because of the fact that there are many issues, i.e., we can go anywhere from how we count physicians to population growth, demographics, to any number of items that would really skew . . . [portion of text missing from tape] . . . However, we at OSHPD feel that there are ways to deal with it.  It may be long-term, but I think we can do an adequate job at bringing forth the information.

Real quickly, as you know, OSHPD is primarily known for the role in the area of seismic safety and data collection.  However, in the Healthcare Workforce and Community Development Division, I have the very fortunate role and privilege to work with Dr. David Carlisle, who’s very much interested in terms of what are we doing for the healthcare future of this state?  We also recognize there is a real crisis before us, not only in the physician area but any one of the 300-plus allied healthcare fields that we’re having to deal with.  Our division completely supports the vision of the department, which is equitable accessibility to healthcare for California.  If you notice in our vision statement, it’s not for particular areas.  We’re talking about the entire state, and we’re using the word “accessibility” as a primary motivator for our functions.  Our department—our division, I should say—operates several programs that support this accessibility focus, and we also look very strongly at the promotion of a diverse and culturally competent workforce.  That is a real strong focus within our division.


I want to quickly go over the five major programs we have within the division and just give you a quick summation of what we do, and I think that will reiterate and reinforce some of the comments that you made earlier.


The question that I was told that I should address here, and per your comments, Senator Ortiz, is:  What is OSHPD doing to help deal with the shortage of primary care physicians?


The first program I would like to describe to you would be our Song-Brown Family Physician Training Program which is a program that improves access to primary care and services in California, especially in medically underserved areas.  And it does this by increasing the number of family physicians who receive quality education and training and training that allows them to provide services in the medical service area.  There is a real strong focus to push residents into areas where there’s people that are uninsured, underinsured, or have no insurance whatsoever.  We’re real proud of the program because this program on a yearly basis provides a minimum of 350 patient contacts of people who otherwise might not have access to services.  We’re also proud to say that 50 percent of the Song-Brown Family Physician graduates practice in areas of underserved need—or unmet need, I should say.


There are other good points to the program.  I’m going to move on to the State Loan Repayment Program and offer myself up to any questions.  

Our State Loan Repayment Program is a program that repays educational debt for health professionals who commit to working a minimum of two years in federally designated Health Profession Shortage Areas.  As you know, this is a designation we use from the federal level and then convert it to a state designation so we can help health clinics, hospitals, and freestanding community health centers to be able to more appropriately facilitate services to the underserved.  We use this as a real strong recruitment tool to find and attract people who have debt and would otherwise not consider going into underserved areas and helping us provide services in that area.


Since 1991, we have provided 389 health professionals placed in HPSAs (Health Professional Shortage Areas).  That is an average of 28 placements per year, which is certainly not enough but at least we’re able to fill all the applications that are submitted to us.  And I think we’re real creative and able to renegotiate contracts and extend contracts and retain people in service areas that otherwise would leave.


We have what we call the Primary Cooperative Agreement which is funded by HRSA, and this program seeks to increase access to healthcare for underserved populations by recommending to the Federal Shortage Designation Branch (a HRSA branch) the approval of applications from clinics and other healthcare providers for designation as HPSAs (Health Professional Shortage Areas) or medically underserved areas or medically underserved populations.  

I’m going to have a member of our staff, Mike Byrne, walk you through this real quickly—we’ve got a couple of charts—because I know we’re limited on time, but this will provide you the information that you need because a lot of people obviously don’t understand what a MUA and MUP is.  They do get complicated.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, if we could have them come forward quickly.  We’re about five minutes behind, so if you could make it really brief, I’d appreciate it.


MR. ROSALES:  Okay.  Real quickly, we have that particular program, which, again, helps community-based systems to accentuate their bottom line—i.e., the funding—and be eligible for other programs and enhancements; to be able to participate in National Health Service Corps placements; to be eligible for loan repayments and enhance federal eligibility.

So, I’m going to stop there.  We do have one more program, the Shortage Medical Education Area Training Program, which we’re real proud of, which redirects residents, again, into underserved areas.

But I’m going to turn it over to Michael Byrne, who is our geographic information specialist, and he can make short work via the charts, if you will.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thanks.  You may begin.  Welcome.

MR. MICHAEL BYRNE:  Thank you, Senator.  
My name is Mike Byrne.  I’m the geographer for the division with Mr. Rosales.  Your packet includes a series of maps.

The first three maps are designations that we are the primary care officer for, for HRSA.  The first map is medically underserved areas/medically underserved populations that demonstrates the distribution of areas and populations that meet that designation in the criteria, in the margin area, statewide.  The chart at the bottom illustrates just a quick demonstration of demographic variables that are inside those designations.

The next three are Health Professional Shortage Areas.  There are three types—primary care, dental, and mental health—and they have additional, different criteria than the medically underserved areas and populations; and, again, a smattering of demographic variables that illustrate the nature of this area(?).  Those four designations are significant because it brings to the table about half a billion dollars annually from state and federal programs—about 13 different programs—that aid and facilitate access to healthcare.
The fourth map is . . . 
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you a question because I know we’ve gone through this locally where we’ve tried to get medically underserved areas designation.  What’s your general turnaround time when a community is seeking to determine whether or not they’re medically underserved for purposes as we’ve attempted to do locally in our South Sacramento Health Center with the federal dollars?

MR. ROSALES:  Once the application is completed, our turnaround time is 90 days.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ninety days?

MR. ROSALES:  That includes 30 days for public comment and then our processing, and then we forward it to the federal government.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But that application completion component to provide technical assistance for those who are seeking that designation, because I know we had a bit of a challenge here, it was the survey requirement, I think, that was problematic.

MR. ROSALES:  Yes.  The survey requirement has always been problematic, and we’re trying to address our GIS system on that.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

MR. BYRNE:  The fifth map is Primary Care Shortage Areas.  It’s a designation from the California State Healthcare Workforce Policy Commission.  This is a mandated program.  It follows a different set of criteria that’s weighted.

The next two pages attempt to answer the question:  How many primary care physicians are there in the state?  This is a rather cumbersome question, and it gives us the reason why it’s a cumbersome question, and it attempts to illustrate a particular ratio.

The first, I’d like to draw your attention to the bottom right-hand corner of the table on that first page that illustrates a potential of about 67,000 primary—I’m sorry—physicians and surgeons in the state that are licensed under the California Bureau. . . . or Medical Board.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, let me make sure I understand.  Primary care totals in California are 67,660 . . . 
MR. BYRNE:  No.  That’s not correct.  I’m sorry.  That’s the total number of physicians and surgeons.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  So 16,000 . . . 
MR. BYRNE:  Sixteen thousand, three hundred and seventy is what I calculate, given an odd rubric.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Out of a total of 67,660?

MR. BYRNE:  We come up with a ratio of approximately a quarter.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, is it fair to say that 51,000 or so are subspecialty or non-primary care?  The difference between 16,370 and 67,000 is roughly 51,000.

MR. BYRNE:  That’s correct.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And so, those are the non-primary care physicians that are in California.
MR. BYRNE:  Yes.  It’s fair to say that.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, that’s a percentage of . . . 
MR. BYRNE:  About 75 percent.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, maybe 25 percent of our physicians in California are the generalists/primary care physicians that are most likely to serve the underserved areas or high-need service.
MR. ROSALES:  That’s our best guesstimate, if you will, given the time, but we think we’re fairly close.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  That’s helpful to frame the issue again.  Please continue.

MR. BYRNE:  The last page illustrates the map of population-to-physician ratio statewide.  At first glance, it’s fairly chaotic.  I haven’t had the chance to do any statistical analysis at this point, but what we can visually assess is there are three general categories that jump out; extreme rural, as an example.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  The north?

MR. BYRNE:  Trinity Mountains, Mendocino Coast, and some of the desert.  High-growth areas.

Again, one of the points that you brought up earlier was the notion of our residency programs.  Keep in mind, also, that since 2000, California’s experiencing about 500,000 new people a year.  That’s a city the size of Fresno.  So, the extreme growth rate places are the places we’re going to see that value of underserved or that ratio fairly increased.  And the examples are Southern Sacramento County, El Dorado, El Dorado foothills, and the Bay Area creeping into the valley.

The third area that you are going to see this ratio increase is high-percent poverty areas:  South Central Los Angeles, anywhere in the Central Valley, and sort of the third ring of L.A.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  No surprises there, unfortunately.

MR. BYRNE:  No.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Does that complete your presentation?

MR. BYRNE:  Yes, it does.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Very thorough.  Thank you.

Others from OSHPD?

MR. MICHAEL OROSCO:  Just one quick comment, if I may.  My name is Michael Orosco, one of the managers there.

One of the things that you’re not going to see on paper when we talk about figures, and I think you will especially relate to this, is we put a face to all of these figures.  In my own family, 21 of my immediate relatives, 17 have diabetes.  You know, we deal with these every single day.
This division, as small as it is, has a passion that I’ve never seen anywhere else in the state.  I think the thing we’re all excited about is that we’re partnering with other state agencies and with other people.  That has never been done before—the need to collaborate because there’s not money.  We’re finding that money is not the barrier sometimes; that we just need to start talking to each other.  And we’re real excited in the next year that many of the questions that we often ask, because we need to make policy decisions, will be available on our website, and anybody can get that information.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  I think OSHPD does great work.  I wish that we hadn’t over my last four, six years seen incredible decimation of your budget.  It hasn’t been maintained as a priority in the budget subcommittee process, but we’ve made it a priority.  Unfortunately, we haven’t seen a comparable commitment or expansion where it’s needed.  And certainly, however, back to the MOU, we would welcome some clarification as to what kind of oversight has been provided over this MOU over the years, because that is the guiding document that ought to be producing more physicians in these underserved areas.  You know where they are.  The question is:  How do we increase them, and what do we do to get more physicians out there in the areas that have the greatest demand?
So, Mr. Rosales, did you want to complete . . . 
MR. ROSALES:  Yes, ma’am.  I will certainly relay that message to Dr. Carlisle, and you have our commitment in terms of there’s so much more we would like to talk about our programs.  Not to just pat ourselves on the back, but what Mr. Orosco said is true:  It’s not just money all the time.  All we need is your support.  And I think if you hold our feet to the fire, we will certainly be out there and trying to do our best.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, I wish we had been able to have OSHPD and the UC remind the Legislature in a very clear way over the last few years that this MOU was out there, number one.  Number two, come to us each year and tell us where we are in performing.  We’ll hear from the UC, but this has been under the radar.  Again, but for a lot of my recollection of Isenberg’s work and me remembering late in my career and Ms. Garcia, you know, doing all the hard work, I just had hoped to elevate this with my colleagues who are going to be here in the Legislature in a longer timeframe.  Thanks to term limits, we’re all not going to be able to remember this hearing two weeks from now, let alone two years from now.  So, we look forward to that.
Are there questions from Senator Alarcón?

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  I just have a clarification.  Did you say how you defined “underserved?”
MR. BYRNE:  The designations that exist in the first five maps have the criteria definition in the right-hand margin area.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Percent of population below 100 percent of poverty; percent of population, age 65 and over; infant mortality rate.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Is that based on the Census?

MR. ROSALES:  Two thousand Census; yes, sir.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Is it based on the estimated undercount?

MR. BYRNE:  It’s based on the real count.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  The real count?

MR. BYRNE:  Yes, it is.
SENATOR ALARCÓN:  So, it’s even worse.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  In some areas.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Okay.  Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s pretty bad as it is, and then you factor in undercount in some parts of the state—yes, it’s even more frightening.  It’s fair to say L.A., San Diego, Central Valley. . . . actually, probably very few places . . . 
UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  __________.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes.  Okay.  Well, I know there’s a series of questions, but I think I’m going to hold off.

Let me thank you for your presentation.  I appreciate it.  Stick around, obviously, if there are further questions.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Can I ask . . . 
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  The follow-up would obviously be:  Can you project, based on the undercount?

MR. BYRNE:  Future growth?

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Well, no.  We had some assumptions, I think, in resolutions that were passed by the Legislature relative to the undercount.  We made some assumptions about what that undercount would be.  In fact, the Census Bureau made some assumptions about what the undercount was.  Could we factor the undercount into this same format?

MR. BYRNE:  Yes.  Yes, we could.  You’ll recall that in most all of those designations, the population-to-physician ratio is only one of the criteria, however, and usually that only occupies about 25 percent of the weight of the total designation.  So, in some cases . . . 
SENATOR ALARCÓN:  The population?

MR. BYRNE:  That particular ratio for underserved because some of the other criteria might be as many as three other criteria.  So, each of them are weighted equally.  The population-to-doctor ratio is only one of the criteria that allows it to become designated.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just . . . 
SENATOR ALARCÓN:  The infant mortality rate is one that is curious to me.  What I know about the infant mortality rate is that Mexican women from Mexico have a very high live birth rate.  But, after three generations of presence in the United States, it reflects, very much, almost to the African American woman live birth rate; meaning, that depending on how you’re looking at the infant mortality rate, the findings of shortage of care could be very dramatic.
MR. BYRNE:  It could be.  
MR. ROSALES:  Unfortunately, on this particular situation, we have to go by the county report, and that’s the only thing we can factor in at this point.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that may or may not reflect generational immigrancy.
SENATOR ALARCÓN:  So, we need more research, more specific research.
MR. BYRNE:  Yes.

MR. ROSALES:  And the other thing to consider is a lot of these definitions, it’s so cumbersome.  You can take one area, and it depends on what designation you’re looking for.  It can really skew figures for your territory(?).

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Further questions?

I know we had requested from OSHPD whether or not they had a copy of a letter from OSHPD to, at that time, President Richard Atkinson from the University of California, and it was a letter that goes to the question of affiliation status that the UC has used to achieve its numbers, which account for the majority of numbers that are offered by the UC to support their position that they’ve met the MOU objectives.  We found a copy of the letter.  I understand OSHPD could not find it, so we’re happy to share that letter with OSHPD that they may not have had available on the MOU.  So, just let Mr. Carlisle know that . . .
MR. BYRNE:  No.  I’m familiar with that.  
SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re familiar with the January 28, 2001 . . .
MR. BYRNE:  The letter that says we’re in compliance?  Is that it?
SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.
MR. BYRNE:  Okay.  No.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s another letter.  We’ll share that with you.  We have a copy of that.
With that, let me thank this panel and invite the next panel to come forward, and that is the University of California’s presentation on the Memorandum of Understanding.

Ms. Garcia, could you stay up here, please, in case we have questions of you?  Thank you.

University of California’s presentation on the Memorandum of Understanding implementation, the history and outlook, and we have Dr. Michael Drake before us.

Welcome, Dr. Drake.

DR. MICHAEL DRAKE:  Thank you.  It’s nice to be here.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good to see you again.

Members, let me just share with you, Dr. Drake has been before this committee before.  We first broached the issue of the status of the Memorandum of Understanding and invited Dr. Drake back to address more specifically the implementation of the MOU.  But let me just welcome you to our committee.  As always, we appreciate your representation of the university, and hopefully, you’ll help us shed some light on this huge problem.  Welcome.

DR. DRAKE:  Great.  Well, I’d love to do that.  I will make a very brief statement.  Then I want to really answer questions that you and Senator Alarcón may have, as well as others.

What I’m going to talk about is the MOU and some of the issues that we face in the implementation of the MOU.  And then, you said in your comments earlier that you’d like to talk about things that we can actually do to look at the problem of quality healthcare to all Californians.  I’d like to spend as much time as we can on that because I think there are, in fact, places where you could help us in the programs that we have in place to try to address that very issue.

There are two or three things that I’d like to say about the MOU and about the goals that were set and about the effort that we went through to meet those goals.  I’ll say that my position in the president’s office started in 2000.  Before that, I was a full-time faculty member at the University of California, San Francisco, so I remember this happening.  I remember it on the ground as it affected my practice and my teaching and those of my colleagues, so I can give you some direct experiences about what happened there.

In the early 1990s, around 1990, a wisdom came from the East Coast that said that a split of about 50/50 between primary care and non-primary care specialties was appropriate.  Before that time, we really hadn’t spent so much time talking about this.  We had doctors and nurses, et cetera, but there wasn’t as much of a focus on which ones were primary care or horizontally oriented and which ones were vertically oriented specialties, but that came out early on.
There were two kinds of projections:  one that said we needed to have a 50/50 split and the other that said that we were looking for a physician surplus of about 160,000 by the year 2000.  When we entered into the MOU, there were two things that it was based on:  one, that a 50/50 split between primary care and non-primary care specialties was desirable and, as the MOU stated, that 40 percent of the primary care specialties should be in family medicine.  That was an explicit goal in the MOU.  And second, that we were headed toward a physician surplus of 160,000.
 
As you know, there was quite a bit of controversy about those projections at the time.  Many people doubted them at the time, but they carried the day and we went forward.  What we found is that the projections were not accurate.  In fact—and you all can attest to this now—there was not a physician glut by the year 2000.  In fact, we ran into shortages.  Because we were in a zero-sum gain, we weren’t going to increase family medicine, period.  It was to increase family medicine and decrease non-primary care specialties to make room; and so, what we did is we cut psychiatrists and cardiologists and rheumatologists and anesthesiologists and all across our specialties.  We cut those positions as we worked to add family medicine, mostly primary care specialties.


Two things happened.  As we cut those specialties, it was painful in the sense that it wounded the university.  It hurt the quality of the programs that we worked hard to build.  It made it so patients who were waiting long times to be able to see specialists weren’t able to see those people and had to wait longer.  I’ll say that in my practice, the waiting time—I was a glaucoma specialist at the time—and the waiting time went from three months to four months, as we cut positions from my own department.


But we grew more family medicine programs.  Unfortunately, what happened is that we grew family medicine programs into a market where those programs couldn’t fill.  And so, family medicine programs, even today, if we look at family medicine positions that are offered today, there are about 2,700 family medicine positions offered in the United States in the March 2005 match.  Only about 1,120 of those were filled by U.S. graduates.  So, 40 percent of the positions offered were filled by U.S. graduates; and then, about 1,175 that were filled by foreign graduates, so another 40 percent.  But 20 percent of those places remain vacant today.  There’s no one, no qualified applicant, to fill those places.


This happened even earlier.  I’ll say that number was about 700 in 2000.  So, we were growing family medicine physicians.  These are federal data.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m just trying to understand your point.  So, you’re saying, because we couldn’t fill with U.S. medical school graduates . . .

DR. DRAKE:  We couldn’t fill with qualified applicants.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me finish—that, therefore, that ratio, that gap that had to be filled by foreign graduates, we should conclude, therefore, that that goal of more family care physicians, primary care physicians, family practitioners, was one that we should not have sought to achieve?


DR. DRAKE:  The goal was overambitious, and it was unachievable.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Therefore, we had a glut of family care practitioners?


DR. DRAKE:  What we have is a glut of family care training physicians today in the United States.  There’s been a drop nationally, from 3,200—and I’ll be clear as I can about this.  Five years ago, there were 3,200 positions offered.  They couldn’t fill those positions.  The number of positions offered in the country voluntarily by programs in California and without California has dropped down, now, to 2,700.  There’s still 500 vacancies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, is it your conclusion we shouldn’t train more family care physicians?


DR. DRAKE:  What I’m saying is that we should not create. . . . there’s no purpose or point. . . . I don’t want to say the wrong thing.  I have nothing against training family care physicians.  You know that we support that.  We call our program for training new physicians PRIME because we like that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  PRIME-LC.

DR. DRAKE:  PRIME-LC is one rung on a ladder, but let me say we’re very much dedicated to doing that.  What I’m saying is that there are 500 empty places today.  So, if we were to add ________, sort of like the seats here today, we could build more seats, but there aren’t people to fill those seats.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But, if we graduated more primary care physicians or family practitioners, they could fill those slots.


DR. DRAKE:  We graduate medical students now, and medical students then choose the places that they wish to practice.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because we don’t encourage them to choose the places that they should be . . . 

DR. DRAKE:  I can only tell you that we encourage them as much as we can.  We have family medicine.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, I think we can do a lot more.  We’ll hold off on the conclusions and the recommendations of the committee, but we can do a lot more to train.  

I know you’re continuing your presentation.  Let’s allow you to do that.  I wanted to make sure I understood your point.


DR. DRAKE:  Sure.  But I’m just trying to say that currently, what there is a surplus of is family medicine training opportunities, and that’s been the case for many, many years.  Even though the other programs in the country have cut back on their number of family medicine positions offered, there still are 500 that are unfilled.  In fact, we use this as a bit of a litmus test.  We tend to go with U.S. graduates first and then foreign medical graduates, for a variety of reasons, and we go all the way down to the people who aren’t qualified to care for patients anymore.  And I’ll say that family medicine has the highest percentage of foreign medical graduates filling the programs of any specialty in the country—more than half.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You know what?  The way I interpret that, it’s because we haven’t trained enough family practitioners that we have had to import them from other countries to serve our underserved areas.  See, I look at it a different way, that we haven’t filled the void; therefore, others are coming in and filling, fortunately.  So, that’s what’s troubling to me, is how one interprets that gap.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Could I insert something before you answer?


DR. DRAKE:  Sure.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Even if we accept your statement, do we know—and I look at it a little differently, although I agree with the chair’s conclusion that we’re not training enough family practitioners—but do we know why they’re not selecting these training slots?

DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  I have a couple of reasons.  I just want to say one thing as I answer that, just to make sure I’m clear.  I really am thinking about healthcare for the population and family medicine versus nurse practitioners versus internists.  What we really want to do is to have a workforce that serves the population appropriately.  No one agrees more that we don’t have a workforce . . . 

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  But the prognostication from the university has not been very well suited for medical care.  That’s why you shut down the baccalaureate program for nursing at UCLA twelve years ago, and now we’re importing 30,000 nurses with federal visas.  Those jobs could have gone to the community.  

But I want to get back to the question with regard to the training slots that are not being filled.  Why are people choosing not to go into that? 


DR. DRAKE:  A very complicated question.  I mean, that’s something I don’t know that I can answer completely, but I’ll tell you two things.


One is that medical knowledge explodes exponentially, and we all know that.  There are multiple choices that people graduating from medical school have when they’re going to go out into the future, and they pick a variety of these choices.  The population, the demands on the system, things that people seek, tend to be things that are going to give them the most modern and best treatment that they can get on a given moment:  cardiology for aborting your heart attack.  Something that couldn’t have been done three years ago can be done today.  So, there’s a great explosion in medical knowledge that goes forward.  And the attractiveness of the family medicine model, which is the model that my father began when he started medicine in 1949, the attractiveness of that model isn’t all that it was 40 or 50 years ago.   There are many other things that people choose to do.


So, I believe, let me say, that family medicine is an appropriate, important component of what we do.  We have the other fields as well, and I look at that.  I look at nursing; I look at pharmacy; I look at things—public health—to try to keep people from getting sick in the first place.  I think we have to use all of those, working together.  The real goal here is to make the population healthier.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  But we know that the population is not getting healthier.  In fact, diseases that have been conquered in this country are re-emerging.  But I want to be clear.  Are you saying that we may not need the family practice model as much as we needed it before?


DR. DRAKE:  What I’m saying is that the family, as it sits today, with our entire healthcare system—and forgetting California; just looking at the United States, the entire healthcare system—the number of places that we offer for family medicine exceeds the number of people that are trained in the world.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  But that’s a totally different question.  My question was very specific.


DR. DRAKE:  Okay.  I’ll try again.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Are you saying that we may not need family practitioners as much as before?


DR. DRAKE:  You know, I would say that I don’t know that that . . .

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  [portion of text missing from tape] . . . How do we answer the question of under-service?


DR. DRAKE:  I don’t want you to make me say something that I don’t believe, and let me just say what I believe.  What I believe, and what our training programs are—the ones that you’ve heard me talk about that we are developing—are really to train more community-focused, primary-care-focused positions and to create a pathway in medical school that will help to nurture that kind of training and to make it something that is . . . 

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  Is that different than family practice?


DR. DRAKE:  It’s family practice; plus, it’s pediatrics; plus, it’s internal medicine, general practice; plus, it’s OB/GYN.  There are lots of things that are horizontally oriented.  But primary care generally.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Just so that we understand the framing of the issue, primary care is a general topic area.


DR. DRAKE:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Within primary care, we have family practitioners.


DR. DRAKE:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We also have internal medicine . . .

DR. DRAKE:  Pediatrics.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is a little bit misleading because many of them eventually branch off into specialties, like coronary.  They don’t stay in the primary care physician mode, and they end up specializing—which we need specialists, and I support you in that assessment—but we have a maldistribution.  We then have pediatricians.  We also have . . .

DR. DRAKE:  OB/GYN.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  Well, that’s a little closer to stretching the broadest need in the underserved areas.


So, primary care physicians.  We have family practitioners; we have internal medicine that then often branch off into specialties that don’t stay in internal medicine; generalists, which, again, exacerbates the lack of coverage in the underserved areas, in my mind.  You may disagree.  And I know your determination that we don’t have enough family practitioners to fill the slots, that’s a symptom of not prioritizing that in our medical schools.  

And let me just go back to the UC’s objectives.  I know you’ve said you don’t quite believe that simply promoting primary care physicians or family practitioners is going to solve the underserved or maldistribution.  But the UC’s own report in December of ’04 talks about participating actively in efforts to improve the distribution of California physicians and to meet the needs of medically underserved groups and communities throughout the state.  You have a number of objectives to develop but there’s no tangibles.  It’s just general representations of a need to do something that has not been done.

Before we get too far along—I know I interrupted you, and I apologize.  I don’t know if you had completed your presentation.  And I know you feel really strongly about the PRIME-LC program.  But let’s be very clear.  PRIME-LC has six or eight people in the program?


DR. DRAKE:  Yes, eight this year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I again frame the issue for my colleagues—it doesn’t increase the number of slots in medical schools.


DR. DRAKE:  No.  It’s an increase by eight.  It’s the first increase we’ve done in 30 years.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Six, by six individuals.

DR. DRAKE:  Eight in one year, 12 this next year, which means 20, and pretty soon it will be 60 per year.  It will be like the size of another medical school in California by, roughly, 2010.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what that does, it doesn’t increase the number of people coming into a medical school that are going to stay in a general. . . . it takes those who are admitted into medical school and trains them in these broader areas that focus on going to the underserved areas.


DR. DRAKE:  I want you to understand like I do because I want you to help support this.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let me also say—and I know we’ve not allowed you to go through your presentation.  I’m going to allow my colleagues who have joined me.  I’m just asking you, as I’ve done in the past, to think macro.   We need another medical school, and, in my mind, we need a medical school that will focus on training, whether it’s primary care physicians or family practitioners or, in your assessment, specialists, who are going to go into underserved areas.  That’s the disconnect that we are . . .

DR. DRAKE:  We agree completely.

Let me just say, the reason I was having trouble answering your question, Senator Alarcón, is I don’t want to say anything that sounds bad or diminishing or non-supportive of family practitioners and generalists.  They’re my colleagues and friends, and I support them and work together with them.  I’m not trying to say what we need or whatever.  I’m just looking at the reality to address these problems.

I want to go into just what Senator Ortiz was saying, though.  It’s really important . . .
SENATOR ALARCÓN:  But I think Senator Ortiz raised a good point.  We didn’t set these goals.  You did.

DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  They’re my goals.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  The university did.  And so, those goals not being met.  That’s the troubling part.

DR. DRAKE:  So, here’s where you can help, okay?  Senator Ortiz—and I guess I’ll say this when she gets back.  She says she doesn’t want us to think about just one program.  I don’t want to argue about this, but our budget has been, at the university, been cut relatively severely in the last four or five years:  25 percent cut to our medical schools last year alone; 10 percent cut the year before that.  So, we’ve been hemorrhaging pretty badly by being cut in that environment.  We have grown the medical schools for the first time in 30 years and grown specifically with a hard-money-focused—first program of its kind—hard-money-focused program on Latino medical education.  So, while we are bleeding, really, a third of our budget this last year, or last two years, while we’re bleeding from one side, we’re growing out the other side where we think we ought to go in the future.  It’s one school, one year at a time now, because, if we’re going to run a marathon, we have to start someplace.  That’s one. 

We have grant proposals out for planning grants for three other of our medical schools to come on in roughly 2007-2008.  And, by 2009-2010, we’d expect this to exist for all five of our medical schools being roughly the size of another small medical school in California.  It’s in the regents’ budget from 2004.

But let me just say one more thing.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  I just want to make a distinction here.

DR. DRAKE:  Yes.

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  All that is well and good.  However, it doesn’t address those people who are going through the system, who are not being compelled to enter into the family practitioning fields, whether they’re Latino or anything else.

DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  I want to speak about that directly.  I do think about this stuff a lot.  What I thought about the MOU was, what does it want to do and why is it not working?  We really spent years thinking about how to do this right, how to make this something that would stick, so that when I’m ready to get termed out, there’s somebody there in back of me who I can look at to follow up with these things.  And so, what we did was, we changed the paradigm to look at the kinds of things that are attracting and supporting our medical students today.  I thought about this very directly and personally.  I thought about the kinds of things that motivated me and motivated my friends to choose the careers they did, and said, Okay.  Let’s throw this into the pot and put at the end of that course practicing in the communities where we need practice and doing the kind of service we need.

So, we created a program with hard work over many, many years to say, How can we create a pathway that’s going to attract and support the people that we would like to do the kind of things that we want later on and, in fact, even become leaders in that?  So, that’s the first thing.  We started that at UC Irvine this year, and we’re moving forward.  And again, it felt like swimming upstream to do it, so we’re really proud of beginning.  
But the macros is more important, I would say.  And, in March of this year, we presented the findings from a three-year study that we had gotten grant funding to support from a national group that looked at the healthcare needs of California generally.  And that suggests that we have two new medical schools—one in the Central Valley and one in the Inland Empire—and that they focus, in fact, on just the kinds of things that I’ve been saying to you:  that we have as a primary, central theme of these schools to train people to do the kind of work that California needs.  We presented that to the regents in March.  It’s under discussion now.  We will need support over the years to go forward.
We also look for growth in public health, which California needs growth in nursing.  I agree with you completely that it was disappointing and, I think in retrospect, inappropriate that the school of nursing at UCLA was cut down.  We have on the shelf a proposal to rebuild that program.  We’re trying to rise up in the elevator of our budgets going down.  We have to stabilize the budget and grow forward.  But all of those things are exactly what we would do and exactly what we would support.
Let me say again, what we want to produce at the end of the time is somebody who’d really be a leader in pushing these things forward and taking care of those patients that aren’t getting the care that they need now, and we are doing everything that we can to try to create programs that will do that. 

We have, actually, a taskforce that looks at graduate medical education programming and planning in the future.  Whereas, we were on opposite sides of the issue with the California Academy of Family Physicians and OSHPD up through 2002, as we got to the end of the specified period for the MOU, we invited them to be on our taskforce.  We’ve met the last two years.  We’re going to meet again this summer because what we’re really looking for is good ideas about how we can work together to solve the problems.  The enemies are disease and poverty, and those are the kinds of things we want to address.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have you finished your presentation?

DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  I’m ready for questions.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me welcome Senator Scott and Senator Vincent, if they’d like to weigh in.  I have a few questions, but I would extend an invitation for them to offer comments.

SENATOR JACK SCOTT:  [Inaudible.]
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Great.  I have a few questions.

DR. DRAKE:  Sure.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s go to the MOU, which is the foundation for this hearing.  I believe we used some of Ms. Garcia’s presentation, at least briefing the committee on how we interpret the UC’s compliance with that.  So, let me just ask you to address some questions regarding the MOU.

The University of California has reported that the number of family practice residency positions has grown by 43 percent between 1992-93 and the 2000-01 period.  Much of this growth has come from UC affiliates with outside family practice residency programs rather than the UC-based programs.  Could you define or describe for the committee the affiliate relationship and how this plays into how the UC is calculating, having expanded primary care residency slots under the terms of the MOU?  
So, educate the committee on the affiliate status—what the obligations are on the side of the UC—as well as the affiliate hospital, what those mutual obligations are.  I mean, in my mind, whether that indeed meets the true spirit of the MOU by what appears to be a very strong. . . . many of these UC medical schools have a preponderance of having met their percentage goals from ranges of 90 percent, 82 percent, 93 percent, 111 percent, 258 percent.  Those increases are primarily attributed to the affiliates rather than the University of California medical schools.  
Explain what that affiliate relationship is or should be under the terms and conditions of obligations and, secondly, whether that’s a false creation of success, given the affiliates fulfilling that obligation rather than the university medical schools.
DR. DRAKE:  We have a variety of affiliation agreements; actually thousands of them.  These would be one category, and these vary in certain circumstances, depending on where the hospitals are.  But let me explain for this particular purpose. 

So, family medicine residency programs.  Nationwide, the family medicine residency programs tend to have 8 to 10 or perhaps 12 residents per year.  That’s the typical size of a family medicine residency.  The largest program that I’ve heard of—and maybe Tom has more data—was about 18 residents per year, but that would be very a large one.  But about 10 residents per year is the size of family medicine residency programs.  I’ll just say generally, if you look at residency programs across our system, that’s about the size that they are.  Some are bigger—internal medicine’s bigger, psychiatry, and a few others—but 10, 12 residents per year is a reasonable size for a residency program.  If you have 10 residents per year, you have 30 residents on your campus in this particular field in a three-year program.
So, there are a couple of things that limit that size and keep that size from getting larger.  One is the number of faculty that you can house that you have that can teach those residents on your particular campus; that the residents require an increase in faculty and there will be a certain number of faculty that one can house.  The other is the number of patients that are going to be seen in the clinics.  The residency programs all have requirements for the numbers and the distribution of patients that you see.  And so, if you have 30 residents, you’ll have to have a certain number of deliveries, a certain number of this kind of visit and everything else.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you define to this committee what the mutual obligations and duties are in an affiliate relationship?  Who are the affiliates, what is it that the University of California medical schools do when they form a relationship with affiliates, and what are those obligations?  Because it appears, based on the data on the MOU analysis, that the placement of meeting the objectives and goals of the MOU had been fulfilled by the affiliates and not by the university medical schools.

DR. DRAKE:  The first thing I would just try to make sure it was clear is that growing the programs at the campuses would not be a viable option.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m not making any conclusions.  I want you to tell this committee what it is you believe the UC’s arrangement with affiliates is.  Define it for us.

DR. DRAKE:  Okay.  Fine.  I was really trying to get the groundwork for the need for affiliation agreements because these are community programs that are necessarily away from the medical center.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Before you define the need, define what they are, what the obligations are.

DR. DRAKE:  They are a variety of relationships.  But what they are is relationships in which the teachers—the people who are on the site teaching the residents—have university appointments, for one.  And then, the curriculum and other parts of the program are shared with the university.  It depends on the nature of the affiliation, how far away the program is.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, Sutter Hospital and Kaiser Hospital in Sacramento.

DR. DRAKE:  Could be affiliates, for instance.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  They are affiliates.  Explain what Sutter does, what Kaiser does to fulfill the UC’s goals of training primary care physicians.

DR. DRAKE:  I’ll just give an example of a relationship.  When there’s a relationship—for instance, like the one in Fresno.  I mean, that’s just a place where I know.  There, the sharing of rounds and visits of faculty, the main campus will visit and collaborate with faculty from the affiliate campus on presenting rounds and other kinds of teaching obligations.  They’ll work with the essential campus on the process of the Match Program, the working with the National Intern Resident Match Program, et cetera.  Curriculum objectives can be set.  Depending on the affiliation, there can be rotations.  Those change, again, depending on the specific entities that are involved.  So, basically it’s a teaching affiliation where the central campus works as a support mechanism for the peripheral group in training those residents.

Let me just say one other piece about our faculty.  At the university, in each of our campuses, we’d have about 300 full-time, paid faculty.  We’d have about 600 faculty who earn their keep and then 2,000 or 3,000 volunteer faculty.  So, the process of teaching medical students and residents is done by full-time faculty and then lots of volunteer faculties who have a variety of these affiliation agreements.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Don’t you think it’s preferable to have UC-based programs, family practice residency programs, rather than having them with the affiliates?

DR. DRAKE:  Well, actually not, I would say.  I mean, again, we have medical centers where our main hospitals are, and those are places where we train across the panoply of specialties.  And so, we have family medicine programs at those hospitals, but they are pretty well-saturated.  The market for them, the patients that they could see in San Francisco, for instance, there’s not much room for more family medicine to practice successfully.  So, if we were going to grow community medicine, where it’s better to grow or to support community medicine, it’s out in communities in places where there’s not an academic medical center.  So, the nature of family and community medicine is that the training needs to take place in the communities and not at the academic medical centers.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it’s not your opinion that the university-wide residency programs need to increase.
DR. DRAKE:  They might increase slightly.  As I said, we’re supporting that increase with our program at Irvine.  But where that’s going to be is really not at the university medical center but in community clinics, because I think that’s the       place . . .
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask a more on-point question?  There seems to be a series of expectations on the part of the affiliates, or at least defined in the policies of affiliates, with the UC that the UCs should be supporting them financially, as well as, for example, covering malpractice insurance.  But that’s not the only thing.  I mean, they do support in kind with faculty and training, et cetera.  There seems to be an absence of many of the affiliates receiving some of the direct support financially, not just the liability insurance coverage issue.  But nonetheless, they are picking up the liability and paying for that to train UC medical students.

DR. DRAKE:  What I know is that the family medicine programs, the campus programs, are all subsidized—in fact, subsidized heavily—by the campus in every case.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ve done a survey of the affiliates that have not received the subsidies that I think they were supposed to receive.

DR. DRAKE:  Let me say that the subsidy tends to go to the department that’s on the campus, and I don’t know how that money gets from the department out to the affiliates.  What I’ll say is, those subsidies are incredibly expensive.  And, if the concept were that we were to support the affiliates at the level that they needed to be supported, like the on-campus programs, we would be literally bankrupt, simply bankrupt.  We would be out of business.  Family medicine, as you know, tends to be relatively underfunded everyplace.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And undervalued, it appears.

DR. DRAKE:  That would be undervalued by the public.  I mean, it’s underfunded by . . . 
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Not by this committee.  I mean, I think I’ve been very clear about that being the key or the cornerstone to delivering in our underserved areas, but you have suggested that that’s not necessarily the case.

DR. DRAKE:  I’m saying that I don’t think that that’s necessarily enough.  I’d like to see a broader answer to the question, but I don’t want to diminish the importance of family medicine.  What I’m going to say is that I know they’re struggling for funding, and our family medicine programs on the campuses are struggling for funding.  Family medicine around the country is struggling for funding.  The University of California does not have the funds to support the family medicine infrastructure in the State of California.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I understand that, and that’s the bigger problem, is we don’t have enough money and we won’t have the medical school we should have built fifteen years ago to take care of the problem that we had twenty years ago.  We’re further behind the curve now.


Let me also suggest, however, the University of California seems to find a way to fund the subspecialties that are not delivering healthcare in our underserved areas, and the taxpayers of California who are paying and supporting these UC systems are the ones that are shortchanged, particularly those that are poor and lack coverage in the rural areas, the northern areas, and urban and high-need areas that have been outlined by OSHPD.  There’s a disconnect in the priorities, and it starts with the UC, and it continues in the profession.  It’s unfortunate, but it exacerbates the problems we tackle here of providing healthcare.


DR. DRAKE:  Let me say something that’s important, and I want to make sure that I’m clear.  If we take specialties other than family medicine, those departments are self-sufficient generally.  They earn the money by seeing patients and doing grants.  Family medicine is supported heavily by our hospitals and our medical schools with money actually earned by the other specialties on those campuses.  Those subsidies don’t come from the State of California.  They come from money earned by the campuses.  Let me say—I just want to make sure you understand.  We really do support family medicine.  Supporting the payment structure for primary care around the state would be more than the university could handle.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s unfortunate because the burden, when the UC comes back to us and asks us for Medi-Cal reimbursement rates in their institutions and their providers of healthcare across the healthcare system, in all our districts, that’s the price we pay at the other end.  You know, it’s troubling.


Let me ask, does UC have new recommendations on how to report the number of internal medicine residents who remain in primary care medicine?  The reason I ask this is we have this report on the actual number of internal medicine residents.  Quite frankly, your data of success presumes that they practice primary care medicine, but we know they don’t practice primary care medicine and they’re actually moving into other specialties.  I think we need to pull out data that shows that even those numbers that have been presented in this reviewing the performance of the MOU are still illusory and, I think, deceiving, in that a number of internal medicine residents who are initially counted as practicing in primary care medicine are not truly practicing in primary care medicine.

Any thoughts on the UC further revising and giving better qualitative data that shows where they actually practice rather than where a point in time in which those figures are presented in this understanding of the MOU?


DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  We could do that, and I did it once myself on the back of an envelope a few years ago.  I looked at my own graduating class twenty years out to see what people were actually doing because I was curious.  I mean, there are things like that that we can do at some point in the future.


Let me say again, though, if I look at the problems of healthcare in California, I don’t draw a line between primary care and specialty as being the solution to solving the problems of Californians for healthcare.  I want to look at what nurse practitioners do.  I want to look at what the different crossovers are, et cetera, and look at a better healthcare system, and that’s really where we would devote our energy.  We can count these numbers, but then we’d just have the numbers, and I think that that’s not a solution.


Let me just say again that the people who talk of the 50/50 split as being ideal have backed away from that now.  That was a construct that came up in the early 1990s as a way to look at things.  That ideal has been moved away from by the AAMC, by COGME, by the AMA as not necessarily being ideal.  We do train about half and half.  So, that seems to be about right, but I don’t know that doing that would give us anything that would be particularly useful.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Perhaps you can be helpful in defining what new variables we might use to more accurately reflect whether or not we’re graduating physicians out of our UC medical schools that are serving in underserved areas.  I mean, you’ve made it very clear that it’s your opinion that primary care physicians/family practitioners are not the solution.  I disagree with you, but you haven’t offered me an alternative in terms of, oh, it’s internal medicine people that will go into rural, poor areas or it’s plastic surgeons, with all due respect to plastic surgeons.  I just think we have far more that our UC system should be supporting.


DR. DRAKE:  I’ll say again, we train many more.  We train 100 primary care people for every plastic surgeon.  So, it’s not something that we tend to do a lot.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let me just say generally, the UC, by its own terms, whether it’s a plastic surgeon or other non-primary care, exceeded the graduation resident positions under the terms of the MOU by 170 residents.  Now, that doesn’t sound like a lot, but when you add that to falling short—at that time, there was a value judgment.  You’re saying that was a wrong value judgment to shoot for primary care positions.  But my point is, that was the standard we used at that time.  Even by that standard, however inaccurate it may have been at that time, the UC fell short:  88 primary care residents short under the primary care goal, and they fell short by 140 resident positions under family practice.  And those numbers are about equal to—actually, it’s slightly more—well, about equal to the 170 excess, non-primary care positions that were resident physicians that were provided by the UC medical schools.

DR. DRAKE:  I understand.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s the disconnect here.


DR. DRAKE:  Let me really try to focus on that.  What you’ve heard . . . 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  Let me ask you this.


DR. DRAKE:  Okay.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, those 170 more resident positions that were produced by UC . . .

DR. DRAKE:  Were not cut.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you, did they go into our underserved areas?  Can you tell me that they filled the hole that we have in our poor areas with the lack of healthcare coverage?


DR. DRAKE:  The 170 you mentioned were paid positions that were not cut.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, I didn’t say they were cut.


DR. DRAKE:  Right.  And what I’m saying is they weren’t added.  They were not cut.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  They exceeded the goals of what the UC was supposed to do by the MOU.


DR. DRAKE:  Right.  Which was the number of positions that we were going to cut.  And let me say that we had a goal to cut 400.  We cut 230.  The 170 are the ones that we didn’t cut.  We didn’t add a person.  These were positions we didn’t cut.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  But their positions, I would have preferred to have seen, whether you agree with me or not, them go to primary care physicians or family practitioners.


DR. DRAKE:  Right, exactly right.  And let me just say again . . . 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And they didn’t.


DR. DRAKE:  It was 400.  We thought we were going to cut 400.  We cut 230, and what we found was that we produced shortages.  I was sitting at this committee in February, and a woman from Monterey County said she can’t find a psychiatrist in Monterey County to take any of her patients.  We cut psychiatry programs; we cut psychiatry positions; we cut cardiologists.  If you now look at the reports, we cut to the point that there were shortages; we cut to the point that we hurt our programs.  But we raised family medicine programs.  We increased them to the point that we had no viable applicants to take the places.  We increased those positions until we had vacancies.  I just want to make sure we’re clear.  We went until we got the vacancies on the supply side.  We cut until we produced shortages on the demand side.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


DR. DRAKE:  That’s where we got to the end.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  I think we are at a place where you will continue to say increasing primary care physicians and family practitioners is not the solution to the underserved areas.  Unless we overcome that disagreement, I don’t think we’re . . . 

DR. DRAKE:  Please, I’m just saying it’s not the whole solution, okay?

SENATOR ALARCÓN:  I think we can agree.


DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  I’m not saying anything bad about primary care.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  One of the issues that you have to include in this discussion is the fact that we have not increased the number of medical doctors we are producing, notwithstanding a massive growth in the population.


DR. DRAKE:  Absolutely.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  And so, part of the problem is, we need to increase slots.


DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We all agree on that.


DR. DRAKE:  And our plan is to increase slots.  I would just say, look at what we’ve done and look at where we put those slots and what we’re teaching those people, and they’re exactly what you’re asking for.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let me also say, if we increase slots today by some magic wand and we had another medical school, and it was in UC Merced, for example, I don’t want to also see a disproportionate placement and a departure from what should be a commitment to physicians who are going to serve in underserved areas.  I don’t want to have a dearth of non-primary care positions, quite frankly.  There was a time in history in which the UC. . . . whether you say it’s an error now.  I mean, I’m hearing from OSHPD and many others, and we’re going to hear from others who will say that, indeed, your assumption that that’s not a big part of the solution for our underserved is incorrect.  So, I don’t want to build another medical school if it’s not going to be prioritized to graduate and serve in the underserved areas.


DR. DRAKE:  I agree.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It will be long past my time.  But I don’t know that it’s just having psychiatrists, although it’s important.  I think data has shown for those underserved areas, whether it’s a rural farm worker town, the growing Central Valley, or up north or in the Inland Empire, we have working poor and blue collar families who don’t have health insurance.  Yes, they need a psychiatrist; yes, they need internal medicine.  But guess what?  They need a primary care physician, they need a family practitioner, first and foremost at the front end.  I mean, that’s the foundation and you build on that.  So, that’s just my disagreement.

DR. DRAKE:  But, please, we don’t disagree.  I agree with you completely.  I don’t know how to say this.  I agree with you completely.  We call the program PRIME because we want it to be directed toward primary care.  We are working with people in Riverside to think about developing a family medicine program in Riverside.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  It is six people in the program.


DR. DRAKE:  That’s the beginning.  That’s right.  If we’d started it in 1992, we’d be someplace by now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just be very clear.  You continue to say PRIME-LC is the solution.  It is not the solution, with all due respect.  It’s a new program; it has laudable objectives.  It’s part of the solution, but we need far more.  I mean, you sat through a hearing we had back in February or March where we looked at the models of the UCSF program.  We looked at the post-baccalaureate programs at Berkeley.  Those are the programs that are recruiting and getting students into medical school that are going back into the poor areas.  That’s the resource that ought to be committed to in the UC medical school system; to replicate ten times what the PRIME-LC at this point, in my estimation, is going to produce, with all due respect.


DR. DRAKE:  I appreciate the due respect, and I’ll tell you where my disconnect is, just to be clear about it.  I’m the principal investigator on the post-bac programs.  These are my programs.  This is exactly what we’re doing.  The part that’s the disconnect, I agree with you completely.  That’s what we do.  Where we need help is, the growth that we need going forward is massive.  What I can do is I can design the best program I can think of with my experience in doing this to try make this something that will really stick.  What I need from you, really, is these things cost a lot of money and I need help and support from Sacramento to get these things to go forward.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What we need from the UC is a redistribution of their priorities, quite frankly.  It’s not you alone.  But when we look at the big picture, what we do with the UC system, which is all important and laudable—and I have an incredible institution in my district.  I’m very fortunate.  But you know what?  We can look at a number of other places at the UC.  Even unlimited resources can readjust those resources for the priorities that I think this committee is looking for, with all due respect.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  I’m going to be leaving.  I apologize.  But I did want to add a third element.  It’s not just an issue of access to a certain kind of training.  We are driven, quite frankly, in our economy by economic desires.  Clearly, family care practitioners are on the lower end of the scale with regard to compensation for their services.  So, we have to create not just training programs, but the incentives so that doctoral students would want to become a family practitioner.  I would like to see what kinds of proposals the UC can make with regard to stimulating people to want to be in those programs, such as loan forgiveness programs and other forms of remuneration for serving in low-income and communities that are lacking access to medical care.  We did it for teachers.  I don’t understand why we can’t do it for doctors.


DR. DRAKE:  Again, I agree completely.  I won’t mention any by name or any programs that we have, but one of the programs we have, we are raising private money to decrease the amount of loans so the students can in fact leave medical school with no debt, because we want to make it that they aren’t burdened by the debt that we see so many of our students burdened with.


SENATOR ALARCÓN:  And these are specific to increasing access?


DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  These are specific to students who have careers that are focused on serving the underserved.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, these are pipeline programs that are funded by all the foundations.  Now the UCs should be funding those programs.  We shouldn’t be going to the foundations to fund those.

DR. DRAKE:  In the last four years, we put $4 million into those programs; $4 million of private money that I’ll say came from me, and then that was matched with campus money.  So, we believe in doing that to go forward.  We do what we can to do this.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s laudable to get the foundations, but the frustration of the foundations as well is, We do this as startup money.  We want to see it institutionalized in the University of California system.  That’s the objective.

DR. DRAKE:  It’s in the budget for . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  For the first time, is this year.


DR. DRAKE:  Right.  And let me say . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a good thing.


DR. DRAKE:  That’s a good thing, and it took that long.  Remember, the mantra of the ’90s was we were going to have too many doctors, so working to make this growth was working against that wisdom.  And let me say we’ve gotten it turned around, and now we’re going as quickly as we can to build solid programs going forward.  I can’t do any more but put it in the university’s budget.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I just hope that the regents understand that it’s their obligation to shift the policies and prioritize and that there is a public good in educating and training doctors that are going into California’s desperately underserved areas.  Right now, whether or not we increase the pot, there needs to be a shifting of what is in that pot to more accurately address the shortages in California.


Thank you.  I don’t have anymore questions.  Senator Vincent?


Thank you so much, Dr. Drake.  I appreciate it.

DR. DRAKE:  Thanks.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask the next panel to come forward and hopefully reframe or frame the issues.  This is a stakeholder reaction and discussion of these key issues, which is very important because it is those of you who I’m relying upon to give some guidance as to whether or not my assumptions about primary care and family practice are wrong or correct or not.


With that, let me ask Tom Riley, director of Government Relations for the California Academy of Family Physicians, to come forward; Robert Davidson, M.D., professor emeritus and former chair, Family Practice Department at UC Davis, medical director, U.S. Peace Corps, Africa, recent returnee from the Peace Corps; Marshall Kubota, M.D.


Is Marshall here?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  He’ll return momentarily.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  He’s out of the room at the moment.  Marshall Kubota, who is an M.D., program director of Family Medicine Residency Program, Sutter Medical Center of Santa Rosa, and clinical professor; Lisa Ward, M.D., recent graduate, UC San Francisco, Family Practice Residency Program.

Welcome, and let me ask you to bring me back to where it is that we should be focusing our time and attention and whether I’m missing the boat here.


Mr. Riley, you may begin.


MR. TOM RILEY:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members.


First of all, thank you for inviting us here to comment on this.  It is a complex issue, and I think it’s one that certainly, whatever begins here today, will not be finished here today, but we will attempt to touch on some of the major mountain peaks as we fly at about 10,000 feet here.

Also, I did want to throw Dr. Drake a bit of a lifeline.  The academy has entered into a new relationship since the Isenberg bills, and we think that it’s a more amicable relationship with the University of California.  These issues that we are dealing with today are not new, as you know, nor were they invented by Assemblymember Isenberg.  The history of this goes back, actually, to the ’70s.  We’ve tracked a number of different legislative requests where the Legislature has requested of the University of California to increase primary care training or to decrease non-primary care training.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I ask, those documents span what period of time?


MR. RILEY:  They span from about 1978 until about 1994, when the Isenberg bill began.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, Dr. Drake has shared with us that that was a faulty objective and goal, and since then, that prioritization may not be the best means of. . . . I don’t want to mischaracterize, but I got the impression that that was sort of, Oh, well, we made some assumptions that may not be accurate today regarding primary care physicians.  It’s helpful for you to give a little bit of background on that.


MR. RILEY:  Yes.  I think it’s important to know that this is not something that Mr. Isenberg invented.  I think it is painful for the institution to make these changes.  I believe that Dr. Drake is about as honorable and forthright a person to try to bring about these changes as there can be.  I think his predecessor, Dr. Hopper, was also an honorable man, and I think that there are some systemic problems in trying to make such large changes from the office of the president.


One of the things that I think works very well for the University of California is that it is a professor/dean, from the bottom-up-driven organization, not a top-down-driven organization.  And I think for those reasons, it is very difficult, often, for systemic changes to somehow change directions and stem from the office of the president.  But I think the two individuals that I mentioned are the most likely to have been able to bring them about.  Unfortunately, I don’t think during the period in which the MOU was brought about—some of those goals were to be made to happen—I don’t think those really were accomplished.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, share with us your observations.


MR. RILEY:  A couple of observations.


First, I did want to give just a brief, historical comment, and that is that the academy, when it entered into this discussion with the University of California, we actually did not start out to say we’re going to try and get the University of California to increase primary care training.  We started out to try and get an augmentation for the Song-Brown Family Physician Training Program, and that had been our sole objective since the late ’80s, when then-Governor Deukmejian had blue penciled the program and then changed his mind and came back to put it back in.


What preceded that is a number of meetings with legislators where we said, Could we, in fact, perhaps augment this wonderful training program?  And interestingly, a large percentage of legislators who we met with, who were very familiar with Song-Brown, who were very familiar with the University of California’s budget, said, Get it from the University of California.  We’re giving them that money for primary care.  So, they were also familiar with concurrent budget language requesting the university to increase its primary care training as a condition—actually, not as a condition—but concurrent with that annual allocation of funds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that related to the affiliate status discussion, or is it indirect?  It’s not on point.  Okay.


I seem to recall in the late ’80s some efforts that were complementary to the Song-Brown enhancement, like various legislation was carried, like the HISMET Program—Hispanic Medical Education and Training Program—and some other bills that were moving through the Legislature at that time to enhance that objective.

MR. RILEY:  Yes.  In fact, there were a number of different programs that came up in the late ’80s and early ’90s that would have enhanced that objective, and perhaps Dr. Davidson can speak to those in a moment.  I think the value of this discussion is that we move through the sins of the past, and where do we go into the future? 


I did want to mention why I say that the MOU was not successful in accomplishing the objectives.  What we had hoped in the Isenberg bill—and the Academy of Family Physicians was the sponsor of both Isenberg bills—what we had hoped was, because of the constitutional autonomy of the University of California, we did not want to be micromanaging how they achieved an objective.  We simply wanted to say, Since the Legislature has asked for this objective repeatedly, unless the objective is met, give the money back so that it can be met.

Part of the condition under which the Song-Brown Family Physician Training Program was created was because of that difficulty in getting the program up and running.  Other states where the postsecondary teaching institution does not have constitutional autonomy, it is much less of a problem because the Legislature can simply say, We’re putting in the line item to ensure that primary care/family practice training happens.  

So, I think that’s important.  I know we’ve been portrayed by some as being draconian, but it seemed like the simplest solution to allowing the university to achieve these objectives without us being in there micromanaging.  Unfortunately, it backfired, and I think a lot of people—certainly, at the dean level and the president’s office—perceived us as being micromanagers.


Also, unfortunately, you’ve heard from Dr. Drake and from others that, in fact, there isn’t the demand for family practice.  There used to be.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Explain that to me.


MR. RILEY:  Our whole goal in this was that the university could read the literature, see what programs have been successful in other states and in other venues to attract bright, young, socially minded medical students into family medicine.  And we were disappointed in that most of how the MOU was achieved—94 percent—was through affiliated training programs at existing residency programs:  Kaiser and elsewhere.

The second part—and by the way, in the discussions with Mr. Isenberg’s office and with the Legislative Analyst’s Office, we said, That may be okay for you to accomplish these goals through these affiliations, provided that, indeed, you have met the five criteria of the affiliation; the three most critical parts of that being financial support, an actual written agreement renewed annually, and faculty that are in those institutions providing UC support.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What are the other two points?


MR. RILEY:  I can’t remember.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Faculty in the affiliates.

MR. RILEY:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, according to Dr. Drake—and I don’t want to, again, misquote him because he’s not here at the moment—is that the UC simply doesn’t have the money to provide the financial support for the family practice programs.  He didn’t address whether or not these annual agreements had been entered into. 


We did a little bit of a survey—Ms. Garcia’s great work—and many of the affiliates didn’t know that they had an affiliate status with the UCs and certainly had not been aware of any financial support that they had received.  So, it’s unclear whether or not the objective of using affiliates to train and place family practitioners or primary care physicians is in fact being adhered to.


MR. RILEY:  The Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development has been fairly critical of UC’s performance on the MOU.  Starting in 1996, one of the points made by the office in a report entitled, Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development:  Comments and Recommendations on the Progress of the University of California in Meeting its Primary Care Training Goals, commented in its fourth report, “The university reports 688 positions; 15.3 percent in family practice.  Of this total, 555 positions are in affiliated family practice programs.  However, numbers for family practice include affiliated residency positions at UCLA and UC San Diego that do not appear to meet the university’s criteria for affiliated residency programs.  In the case of UCLA, the affiliated programs at Kaiser Sunset, 24 positions, and Kaiser Garden Grove, 15 positions, received no educational support from the university.  At UC San Diego, there is no written affiliation agreement with Kaiser Fontana.  In addition, it is not clear whether the 12 positions at Kaiser Garden Grove or UC Irvine-affiliated are to be included in the residency count.”  That was in 1996.

Then again on January 28, 2000, a letter from the director of OSHPD, David Werdegar, states:  “It was reported at the last meeting of the California Health __________ Policy Commission that UC Davis had planned to discontinue the professional liability coverage provided by the university.  If this occurs, even the modest educational support provided by the university for family physician training would largely disappear.”

And he goes on to say:  “The issue of appropriate, educational support of family physician training in the university’s affiliated Family Practice Residency Program deserves a comprehensive review and carefully considered resolution so that the substantial effort to develop these remarkable training programs will not be forfeited for lack of support.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we have a document, at least from some of the oversight that’s been provided by OSHPD of the MOU; a letter that suggests that somehow the UC is not adhering to its obligations under the affiliate arrangement?


MR. RILEY:  That seems fairly consistent.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know Dr. Drake is no longer here, but is Ms. Nation here to respond to any of these?  I apologize for calling you up.  We don’t have Dr. Drake here.  Welcome.  

Are you prepared, at least, to respond?  If not now, you’re welcome to stay here and respond later after Mr. Riley completes his presentation on these differences of interpretation on the MOU obligations.  

Okay.  I appreciate that.  So, please, go ahead and sit there.


Mr. Riley, are you finished with your presentation?  Please continue.


MR. RILEY:  Now that we’ve gotten over that painful part of the presentation, where I’m hoping we go in the rest of the discussion is to talk about some of the ways in which we can move into the future.  Indeed, I believe there are conflicting reports from various organizations on whether we have a shortage of specialty physicians.  If so, is that a geographic shortage?  Is it a shortage within networks, such as Medi-Cal?  What are the shortages made up of?  Are there still shortages of family physicians?  If so, is it an overall shortage, or are they geographic shortages?  I think those kinds of things will not be resolved in this hearing.  But what I’m hoping comes out of this hearing is that we can start looking together, or through a workgroup that would report back to you, for some kind of solution to look at the future, which is very complex, as you know.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, and I appreciate that.  I’d like to outline some of those places I’d like to get to that are consistent with those recommendations as well.


MR. RILEY:  Nor did I want to finish my presentation without mentioning your bill, which I think takes a wonderful first step.  In addition, there are a couple of other bills:  the De La Torre bill, AB 327, which deals with a really important funding source for the Steve Thompson Memorial Physician Corps.  And there’s some other bills out there this year.  Aghazarian has a very interesting bill, also, on the subject, and I think there really are solutions out there.  I’m hoping that rather than spending a lot of time beating up on each other, we can move towards what some of those solutions are here.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t think we’re beating up.  I’m simply trying to find answers, with all due respect of your characterization.  I get frustrated when I hear that family care, family physicians are not the solution.  It may be correct.  I don’t know.  I need to ask you very pointedly:  Do you believe that more primary care physicians or family practitioners could indeed help address the huge problem of our underserved and poor and needy areas in the State of California?

MR. RILEY:  Yes, of course.  I think we are very biased, so we try to be open-minded about contrary views.  But I think that there is clear evidence, both nationally as well as specific to California, that we continue to have an access problem here, a very real access problem.  I think part of the problem is that we have about seven, depending upon whose numbers you look at, we have an excess of about 7 million Californians who do not have access to health insurance.  And we have about a million more, about 8.4 million, who don’t. . . . actually, some of those 8.4 million may actually have health insurance, but they don’t have access to a physician.  And that means that diseases and disabilities that otherwise might be dealt with in a preventive and primary care setting actually end up costing lots more.


We had a hearing here just a little bit ago about the need for more funding for emergency rooms.  That’s not the way to solve it, even though that is in desperate need of a solution.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I agree.


MR. RILEY:  The overall solution needs to be one where, instead of spending seven times as much money to solve it at the ER level because of EMPALA(?) . . . 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We go in at the front end, and we make sure that you have general good healthcare and preventive healthcare; and that access system, I think, is critical.


Well, thank you for your presentation.  Were there any other points?


MR. RILEY:  Thank you.  That’s it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Our next speaker is—and I apologize.  It’s Dr. Kathryn Nation who is here to answer any questions, and I hope that maybe at the end of this panel, if I have some questions, you can help provide some sense to this huge amount of information.


Our next speaker is Dr. Robert Davidson. Welcome, and I appreciate your time here today.


DR. ROBERT DAVIDSON:  Thank you for the opportunity of coming here.  I think I was asked to come here more from an historical perspective.  

At the time that the discussions regarding the Isenberg bill were going on, I was in the midst of a 23-year career as a faculty member at the University of California, Davis School of Medicine; twelve of those years as chair of the Department of Family Practice, later to become the Department of Family and Community Medicine.  It is interesting to come back from being overseas and hear that the exact same issues that were going on before I left six years ago are still there.


I’ll make my comments very brief because we’re getting on in the afternoon.

When the MOU was developed, I think the university clearly took it quite seriously and developed—I believe we were a taskforce; is that what we were called, a taskforce?—which I had the pleasure to serve on as one of the faculty members on the task force, ably supported by Dr. Nation who was the staff director for the taskforce.  I just have three points that I’d like to make about it.


Number one, the issue of the definition of “primary care” became very difficult for us, and we struggled with many meetings, trying to define what it was.  My specialty in family medicine was the easiest because there was little argument that that’s a primary care discipline.  But then, when we got into internal medicine and, to a lesser extent, pediatrics, there was quite a bit of disagreement on the committee on how we should factor those numbers in.  Many of us argued that the total number of internal medicine residents counted by the university should be a formula in which the number of residents who go into subspecialty training would be factored out of that.  I think it would have given a much clearer picture of the true number of physicians going into primary care that the university was producing.  

The end result, however, was that all of the internal medicine residents in the first three years of their training and all of the pediatric residents, et cetera, were counted as primary care residents.  I don’t think it was malicious.  I think it was as Tom said, in a way, when you have a group of faculty members coming together to define something like that.  I love Dr. Drake’s discussion.  But remember, Dr. Drake is a sub-specialist.  He is a glaucoma specialist, and they view the world differently than primary care physicians.  The definition issue came out the way it was; and therefore, the figures looked pretty good in the reports that came out every year but don’t give a true picture of the primary care production.

The other was huge discussions about the affiliation of programs:  the relationships between the university with programs that the university does not directly administer.  We did try to define minimums that were in the Memorandum of Understanding and ways to do that.  The finances regarding those became very difficult because the university’s budget was being reduced during the same time period.  The attempt was to have some financial support through the malpractice process in which, at least, some of the malpractice costs for the affiliate programs would be carried under the university umbrella program.  However, the cost of that far exceeded the expectations of what the actual dollar contribution from the university would be, which relates to our huge malpractice crisis that we continue to have in the United States.  So, I think the university began, then, a process of backing out of that commitment to cover malpractice insurance.  So, I think the affiliation program, Dr. Kubota can speak to it more.

The third point I want to make is to let you know again, and Senator Vincent and others, from my perspective, the huge value of the MOU itself, because it did present an external requirement that the university bring its resources together to think about the production of primary care physicians.  As an example of that, following the MOU for the first time ever in the history of the university, the five health science deans and the five department or division heads of family medicine in the five campuses sat together at one table to talk about issues regarding family medicine.  It had never happened and never would have happened again without something like the MOU producing external pressure.
Now, did we solve all the issues?  Of course not.  But the ability for the deans to hear the problems that we face on a daily basis as a primary care physician in an institution which is not designed to train primary care physicians—it’s not their fault.  I relate it sometimes to a host graft rejection, which is a term we use in medicine where we do transplants, like a kidney transplant.  That kidney is a foreign body to that person we put it in.  And that’s exactly the analogy when you take family practice and put it into a multi-specialty academic institution:  There is a host graft rejection which tends to occur.  And the only way to overcome that—in the case of the transplant is you use drugs.  In the case of the academic medical center, you use support to the primary care disciplines.  Dr. Drake was absolutely right:  Because of the reimbursement, departments and divisions of fine medicine can’t pull their own weight.  So, yes, there is money from the glaucoma doctors that come to help train family physicians.  He may not like that.  I thought it was great because that’s the only way we could have survived in the University of California as a department of family practice.
So, whether it is the continuation of the MOU or some other process, I highly recommend that you have some type of external pressure on the university to continue looking at the issues of primary care on a systemwide basis with some type of reporting process.  
Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  You know, the difficulty is, how do we do that in an era in this institution. . . . I mean, we’ve got term limits.  We have very few members that understood that precedent in these two or three decades.  Yes, we’re going to come up with some recommendations of a taskforce and develop a relationship to be ongoing.  I think there’s one interpretation that says the terms of that MOU is still in place, and I suspect that the UC would probably disagree.  It really requires OSHPD to step forward and be far more aggressive and engaged with the Legislature on a regular basis to make sure that it shows up on our radar screen.  As chair of the Health Committee, it was kind of fortuitous that I recalled all of that and then went and had somebody digging for it and looking at it and opening it up.
But, you know, I think we’re going to have a challenge, whether it’s the MOU or a taskforce or some institutional structure, to allow this to stay in the forefront.  But it is, to me, so frustrating, dealing with and tackling the issues of access to healthcare for Californians and looking at this glaring contradiction of the UC medical schools that I think have abandoned their commitment to serve Californians.  These are publicly supported institutions, and we ought not to be churning out those who are not providing some significant delivery of healthcare to the poor and underserved in California.  It’s just my philosophy about our public dollars.  You know, if you want to go to a private medical school, you know, support it with private dollars?  Great.  However, I think we have a greater mission in the UC system with our medical schools to do more than we’ve done thus far.

Let me just hold off on commentary further.  Let me just allow Dr. Kubota to provide some insight to this, and then Dr. Ward, and then we’re going to open up for questions.

DR. MARSHALL KUBOTA:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, Senator Vincent.
I’m Marshall Kubota.  I’m a family physician.  I was born in Fresno, an undergraduate at UCLA, but medical school, as is the case oftentimes in California, outside of the state, only to return to this state for my family medicine training at that time at Community Hospital in Santa Rosa, California, just a few miles from here.  After that, I joined the U.S. Public Health Service and served in an underserved area of California for five years.  Following that, I worked both with the residency program from which I graduated in Santa Rosa, as well as the Public Health Department, and for the past ten years have been the program director of the Family Medicine Residency Program from which I graduated in Santa Rosa, now named, of course, the Sutter Medical Center of Santa Rosa, as the county institution could not expand on its own.


I agree with you entirely on the issue of:  Do family physicians serve the underserved of California?  Now, understand as well that they populate the suburbs, the cities as well, but they are the primary care providers for the rural and underserved areas of California.  And I think we can make a good point of that within our residency program.


In our family practice center, 27,000 visits a year, 90 percent of them are underfunded or government-funded individuals.  Of our residents, every year 30 to 40 percent of them serve in underserved populations within the State of California.  Thirty to 40 percent of our graduating class—we have 12 per year—are in underserved areas of California.  Now, we recruit for that.  But thank goodness, Song-Brown also helps us to make sure that that’s one of our priorities.  I think it always would have been, but it certainly helps our administrators at our hospital to understand that that additional funding and the issues for the competitive application to Song-Brown have to do with that as well.  So, they support us in that regard.

We have eight community clinics in Sonoma County, and three-quarters of the physicians in those community clinics are graduates of our program, and every physician in those community clinics, save one, is a family physician.  Service to diversity?  Absolutely.  Seventy percent of our residents speak a second useful language, either Spanish or a Southeast Asian language.  We, I think, are perhaps the prime example of an affiliate.  Our program is a UCSF affiliate and has been so, actually, since the inception of family medicine in 1970.  We are one of three UCSF—well, four, if you include Fresno—affiliated family medicine programs.  And so, we have had a long history of affiliation with the University of California in San Francisco.  And so, if you want to understand the benefits that we have had from that affiliation, I’d be glad to discuss that with you.

I agree, though, as well, in terms of the marching forward from this point onward.  In terms of the conundrum that faces California, in terms of medical training, indeed, we import medical students to our residency programs.  We export college students to get into medical school, and then we re-import them to get into our residencies, and we don’t produce enough medical students, is what it adds up to.  And it is, in part, a top-down question about how many medical students you have, but it is also at the other end of that pipeline:  What influences them—and I think we will hear from that—what influences them in terms of their specialty?

A number of things, I think, point to the fact that there are influences that can come to bear.  Some of them are not specifically in our control or on a nationwide basis.  Indeed, it is correct that the fill rate for family medicine residencies is very low for U.S. grads.  That is not for lack of need for family physicians as it is . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  And I think that’s the point that I disagreed with Dr. Drake:  Because it’s hard to fill, there’s no need for them.

DR. KUBOTA:  I would disagree with that, but it is for other reasons, including medical debt, lifestyle issues, what happens to medical students in the university-based settings of their medical schools in terms of influence.  California, by the way, had a greater than 90 percent fill rate in family medicine this year.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Oh, interesting.

DR. KUBOTA:  And so, California, we have quality programs.  We may be pulling back some of our ExPats who went away for medical school and now have come back here.


But to get back to the question of the other end of the pipeline, it’s not just how many medical students but what they go into I think is important.  Of our program, only one in five of our 36 residents is from a UC.  Only one in three from California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Only 20 percent in your program are from UC medical schools.

DR. KUBOTA:  That’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, the other 80 percent are from—what’s the breakdown?

DR. KUBOTA:  Well, one in three is from California, so the other medical schools, two-thirds are from out of state.


DR. KATHRYN NATION:  That might apply for a whole variety of specialties and programs because we do, as has been mentioned, export three times as many students out of state to attend medical school.  Many of those come back.  And so, as we look at the practice in the California physician workforce, we see that only about 25 percent are, in fact, California School of Medicine graduates, and that includes our privates.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s another little irritating wrinkle.  There’s a lot of students that are from California who have the grades that are admitted into Harvard and Stanford, and they’re not admitted into our UC medical schools.  It’s problematic, and they are often identified as those who would likely go back to an underserved area.


I don’t know if you were here at our hearing a couple of months ago where we heard about those students that did not get admitted to UC medical schools but went out of state and came back and are serving in underserved areas.  That’s another phenomenon and problem with the UC system that really goes to their prioritization of values.  It troubles me.  I mean, these are young people who come from this community in California.  You know, they’re good enough to get admitted to very top-rated medical schools outside of the State of California, yet they’re not admitted to our UC medical schools, and they are coming back or want to come back and serve in the areas that our UC grads are not serving.  I mean, this is a disconnect.  

I interrupted you.


DR. KUBOTA:  Thank you very much.


There are other, I think, influencing factors at the other end of the pipeline, and I couldn’t say specifically what they are.  But we also know, as a family medicine program director, that there are differentials in where we would expect to get our residents—what medical schools.  There are differentials within the University of California.  We know that some of the medical schools tend to turn out family physicians and some do not, at least historically.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which are those medical schools?  Tell us the good ones.


DR. KUBOTA:  Well, Davis, certainly Irvine, have reputations for turning out more primary care physicians, more family physicians.  So, if there is a differential, there must exist a difference in influence that can also occur.  In fact, if we look at some of the other schools—in particular, the osteopathic schools in Loma Linda—they turn out a tremendous number of primary care and family physicians.  And so, there are influences within the medical school that direct medical students to different forms of residency.  So, I think that, indeed, things can happen within the environment of the medical schools that will influence the choice of specialty of the medical students that are there.  And again, we have been an affiliate for many years, through the Song-Brown years.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Have you received any financial support because of that affiliate status?


DR. KUBOTA:  We have a Medical Student Program, and we get some money in support of the Medical Student Program.  We do have a .1 FTE funding for a faculty.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Point one?  So, not even one full?


DR. KUBOTA:  Point one.  And we have, until recently, achieved. . . . we have had malpractice for our residents as well as our teaching faculty.  Now, that will end, and that bill will be laid upon our institution.  I have great fears because our institution and the administrators that are there—and Dr. Drake is absolutely right—family medicine runs at a negative.  There’s no doubt our program runs at a negative.  We’ll see and we will try to convince them otherwise, only one way out of that increased bill, and that is, we will have to downsize our program, something that we certainly don’t want.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which further exacerbates the lack of delivery of healthcare.


DR. KUBOTA:  So, we’re very disappointed that we will be losing that malpractice.  And of some great importance is that there is no malpractice in the commercial sector for physicians who are teaching.  If they teach with a resident on a case and a malpractice suit arises as a result of that case, other than those who are in government positions, self-insured entities, such as Kaiser or at the UC, there is no malpractice for those physicians.  Many of our physicians are in private practice, and they may be paid to teach or may volunteer to teach and are absolutely dependent upon the UC-affiliated program, academic appointment malpractice that covers them while they are teaching.  Without that malpractice, we would close.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Nation, can you comment on that policy?  I mean, it just seems like the outcome and the goal and objective of sustaining and supporting these affiliate programs in the manner in which they were intended, a critical piece of that is the malpractice.


DR. KUBOTA:  Is malpractice.  This is true.


DR. NATION:  It’s a difficult set of questions because it varies over time, and it varies by campus and it varies by affiliate.  The added cost to the university and the added cost of liability coverage, coupled with budget cuts, have driven a number of choices regarding individual programs and individual affiliations based upon the needs and resources of affiliates and independent decision making on campus.  I was not aware of the change with respect to liability coverage involving the Santa Rosa program.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We heard it here.


DR. NATION:  I know.  I actually heard it, you know, a day or two before, and I think it’s an issue that requires more discussion.  I do think there is varying ability across our affiliated programs; some of which are new, some of which came in the ’90s as part of the MOU.  Kaiser’s, for example, I think are a different category of program and have a different level of need; and I think perhaps a lesser need.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, they’re self-insured, right?  That’s a different animal altogether.


DR. NATION:  But what I’m saying is, they are a subset of our affiliated program, so I don’t think a one-size-fits-all type of approach makes sense in terms of direct support to affiliated programs.  Kaiser as a subset is one category; longstanding affiliates are another.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we don’t have to provide malpractice insurance to Kaiser, ever.


DR. NATION:  No.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because they’re self-insured.


DR. NATION:  In some instances, those requests, to the best of my knowledge, have been forthcoming.  Again, the terms and provisions of individual affiliations—and as the criteria that you mentioned earlier in this committee indicated—there is to be a written affiliation agreement between the university medical school and each affiliate.  And those terms do vary and those are negotiated not centrally.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  That would be an interesting topic of discussion, is to bring all of those affiliate contracts into this committee and review all of those affiliate contracts one by one and determine whether, in fact, there is any level of meeting the 5.3s which were outlined in this committee.


MR. RILEY:  One of them I remembered.  They are to be renewed annually.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s one of the three, actually, annual renewal. That’s one of the three.  We’re still not getting the five yet.  Financial support, annual renewal, faculty and those affiliates.  We’re still missing two points.  That would be an interesting committee hearing, is to look at every one of those affiliate arrangements.  How many can there be in the State of California?


DR. NATION:  I believe there’s a couple of dozen at present across the system, to the best of my knowledge.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Garcia, you may have far more work ahead of you as we look.  Do you have any of the affiliate agreements?


MS. GARCIA:  Yes.  There are five provisions.  I think one includes that resident graduates from the affiliates must have graduated with a UC certificate.  Another provision is that there must be an adjunct faculty member on the site, supervising these resident positions.  Every campus seems to have between seven and twelve affiliates; so, times five, we get the number ___________________________.
DR. NATION:  And those are detailed in each of the reports that were previously mentioned today.  The specific affiliates by campus are named, the criteria that apply—the five; I have them here—and there’s no language that I see regarding annual renewal.

Dr. Drake mentioned that we have, probably. . . . we’re the office of record for affiliation agreements within the UC system, and we do have a thousand or so that are in place for medical student teaching and other purposes.  We don’t renew or revise those affiliation agreements, in any example I can think of, on an annual basis because it’s a time-consuming endeavor with as many in place as there are.  So, what I’m saying is, I don’t know of knowledge that would call for annual contract renewal.  I think the spirit—and Dr. Davidson mentioned it—I remember those discussions very well involving our deans, involving our taskforce.  We struggled over definitions.  We struggled over criteria for affiliates.  There was agreement at the time that there were varying needs in some of the longstanding affiliates, that some of the new programs perhaps shouldn’t be entitled to similar types of things, and we agreed, then, to work through them on a program-by-program basis with the five criteria that were named in place, and those do call for direct and indirect support.  And that direct and indirect support is also reported by program and by campus in each of the seven reports that you have, and it does vary.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It seems like there should be some standard boilerplate, consistent requirements across the system rather than a case-by-case.


DR. NATION:  Well, there are five.  There are the five criteria that do apply across all affiliations, and I’m happy to leave them, clipped, with you or with Nicole, but they appear in these reports.  Again, the responsibility for negotiation of those documents is from the school of medicine to each of their affiliates.  What we worked hard on in the ’90s was a set of criteria that would guide the development of those agreements.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  Thank you.


Dr. Kubota, have you finished your presentation?


DR. KUBOTA:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  We have one last speaker on this panel:  Dr. Ward, recent graduate of UC San Francisco, Family Practice Residency Program. 


Welcome, and thank you for being here all day.


DR. LISA WARD:  Thank you so much for having me.


I think where I can provide some value to the discussion is that I’ve been through both the medical school experience and through the residency experience.  I am a graduate from UC Davis.  I’m from the Sacramento area.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Where did you go to high school?


DR. WARD:  Well, I went to Armijo High School in Fairfield.  I moved.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s okay.  We’ll still claim you.  [Laughter.]

DR. WARD:  From Davis, I went to San Francisco, where I graduated in 2001, and I graduated from family practice residency also in San Francisco in 2004.  From my perspective, I have had the privilege of one of the finest educations that someone could have.  And with that education, I think it has both encouraged me and discouraged me at the same time to be a family physician.  My personal interest in family medicine is to work with the urban underserved, so I’m taking my skills and my experience and addressing the health needs that you’re talking about.  So, what I’m going to talk about, essentially, are different phases of my experiences.


The first two years of medical education, I think, are incredibly valuable and that UC does an excellent job of exposing us to primary care medicine.  The way it comes to us is through preceptorships, where we are placed with volunteer faculty people.  We shadow them in their offices half a day, once a month, every few weeks, and we see medicine alive in primary care, and it’s an incredibly powerful role modeling that we see in our early days in medicine.


The second thing is that we have a clinical skills class that essentially teaches us how to be a doctor, how to talk to people and interview, how to touch people, examine people, and elicit information.  And the people who teach that class generally are the professors in family medicine, in general and internal medicine, and pediatrics.  And they’re not just average professors to us.  They’re the people that have reputations for the finest clinical acumen, and they have the finest clinical skills.  They’re the doctors that we want to be like when we grow up.  And so, these early years, we have a lot of access to the role models that feed us our goals about what kind of medicine we want to practice when we’re older.


I think that that changes in the third and fourth year, which is the time when we enter into the hospitals and generally spend most of our time on the wards, and it’s during that time that a couple of things happen.  One is that our mentors change from primary care physicians to hospital-based physicians because that’s where we spend all our time.  They’re our professors and our attendings, and now we’re trying to emulate these types of doctors, and they’re really different.  They have different values, different goals; they teach us different things about medicine.  So, that’s one thing, is that the role modeling changes.


The second thing that happens in the culture of the academic medical center or the culture of the hospital is that medical students receive a really different message about what a primary care doctor is, and the message is very strong and very clear that primary care physicians see a lot of patients, they shovel a lot of paperwork, and they get paid significantly less than their specialty colleagues.  And it’s a message that people respond to.  It’s very discouraging for people who maybe at one point were interested in going into primary care.  It discourages them from pursuing that initial interest, so we lose a lot of people in the second two years of medical training.

The third thing that I think is affecting people who are medical students now more than ever happens when we make this sort of reality check that happens right before we graduate, and that is that you’re 24, 25, you’ve never actually had a real job, and you have an average of $100,000 of education debt.  And so, at that point in time, you’re going to look forward to what your salary might be under different specialties, and you know that primary care doctors make significantly less.  These days, people are making purely economic decisions about how they think they can get out from education debt, and it’s a real issue.  

But I think that while that’s an issue, it also introduces an incredible opportunity to incentivize primary care, but it has to happen earlier than residency.  It has to be early enough to influence us to make a decision to go into primary care, to enter a primary care residency.  It could be grants; it could be stipends; it could be favorable loan repayment terms.  It doesn’t have to be really complicated.  And so, the key is incentivizing primary care, making it a more even picture of how rewarding and exciting and valuable primary care is, rather than the negative impressions that we can get when we’re working on the wards.


And I think the third key issue that I touched on is continuing to provide that mentorship; just continuing on the really good work that we’re doing in the first two years and letting people be nourished and be mentored in the third and fourth year so that they can actually be, in the end, a primary care doctor, just like they thought they might have wanted to be in the beginning.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excellent overview and perspective from a medical student and now doctor.  

Let me ask you something on point.  I think the most critical time, as you indicated, is not just the last two years, but rather, the first two years of medical school—the faculty support system, the courses.  I mean, do you find at that window of time that not only is there an absence of encouragement, but there may be some dissuasion in that?


DR. WARD:  You mean in the first two years?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Um-hmm.


DR. WARD:  Generally, I didn’t feel particularly dissuaded, and I think there’s a few reasons, and one is that, at that point in time, you’re really encouraged to explore what you want to do, and so, people don’t really want to guide you into one particular area or the other.  And we’re also more in academic classroom work.  There are many specialists that teach our classes, but I think that, in general, it’s just a more balanced and it’s a less, kind of, intimate relationship in the sense that they’re our teachers.  They’re neutral in that sense.  But once you get on the wards, you really feel compelled to. . . . you want to get a good grade, you want to become a good doctor, and you want to emulate the people that you see around you because they must be good doctors because they’re professors, they’re specialists, they’re getting paid a lot, and they’re your teachers.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But if you don’t see a family practitioner there as a role model, then there’s an absence of that support.


DR. WARD:  Right.  How would you know what that looks like?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, what’s the solution?  We have affiliates.  Were you not able to place or go. . . . did you not have a family care?  Where did you do your third year—at Med Center here?


DR. WARD:  I actually went to Fresno and went to one of the affiliate programs to do three months of rotations.  And there is where I found really valuable mentors.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we need to replicate or increase those mentors in that third year’s experience.

DR. WARD:  And there’s groups that meet that are specialty interest groups.  For example, in the first and second year, I went to the Family Medicine Interest Group, but they’re really difficult to go to, and they don’t really target third- and fourth-year medical students.  So, we could just replicate that same process in the third and fourth year.  Or, we could make a special effort to have seminars or electives or short focus courses that let people see family physicians and pediatricians and community providers so that they can remember what that is about and see how that fits in with the hospital, because they’re not mutually exclusive.  They’re both important.  It’s just that family medicine and other primary care specialties are sort of dismissed, in a way, because you’re working so hard at being in a hospital and functioning there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I think that the financial challenge when you’re coming out of medical school is—is $100,000 an accurate figure?


DR. WARD:  It’s an average.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  On average.


DR. NATION(?):  And increasing.


DR. WARD:  Yes.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Probably $100,000 to $120,000 is what I would have said—$120,000 of debt in school.


DR. WARD:  And that’s just going to be worse, essentially, because fees are going up and loan money is less easy to come by.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I think the critical period of time as you’re making those decisions of a career path, when you factor in somebody making a decision to go into a specialty that pays more in the long run—and is it usually a 10- to 15-year range of paying off student loans that are allowed?


DR. WARD:  About, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I mean, what one would make as a primary care physician with a no-loan debt or significantly reduced in their career—I mean, I don’t know if it’s an $80,000 or $100,000 career starting salary.  I have no idea what your first year would be, if you were a primary care physician.


DR. WARD:  It’s probably between $70,000 and $80,000.  I don’t actually have a real job yet, so maybe someone else can talk about that.  [Laughter.]

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sure you’re going to have a great job.  There’s going to be great need for you.


But my point is, I know when I got out of law school—and it was 1987—my law school debt at that time was relatively small because I worked full time with some friends.  But, at that time, it was like $28,000, and I did the 15-year route.  But what I paid in that period of time versus my salary, you’re getting little to no money right out of law school, and you’ve got a huge debt.  Your debt-to-income ratio is really ridiculous—and the same case for medical school.  But, if there was a loan forgiveness program that put financial value on that societal outcome, then that might buffer that shock in your first years out of medical school.


DR. WARD:  And there are programs—don’t get me wrong.  I mean, there’s the Public Health Service Corps.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Yes, but they’re so few and far between.


DR. WARD:  Those positions are more and more limited, and they don’t come into effect; they’re not opportunities until after you finish residency.  What we need is to support people in that early stage, either the end of medical school or early residency, once they’ve committed to primary care, so it’s an incentive to get people to go to primary care.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And it buffers that shock when you go out there and you look at student loan payments.


Dr. Nation, did you want to . . . ?

DR. NATION:  Well, one comment.  I’m really pleased to hear the issue of student fees and debt come up.  It’s been a major area of concern across our faculty and all of our health sciences schools.  I co-chair with Vice President Drake a statewide committee of admissions deans.  That group has had the responsibility of overseeing the awarding of scholarship dollars, which Vice President Drake also mentioned.  We’ve had an $8 million scholarship program that is now concluded but launched with grant money.  We used criteria involving commitment to the underserved as the basis for making those awards in an effort to recruit students back.  But we know that we lose many, many, many students to full-ride offers, many times from East Coast schools.

Now, I also am an alum of UC.  I’ll say my parents are high school graduates.  I didn’t have a mentor in medicine.  My motivation for medical school came from two summers of service in Central and South America, and I was admitted to UCSF and wondered how I got there. I was surrounded . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Many of us questioned how we got into UC, myself included.


DR. NATION:  But I looked around and I saw students like me who had commitments to serve.  I was married at the time I went through medical school.  My fees totaled $10,000.  Today, the average medical student is graduating with $100,000 or more, but we are in the first year of implementing last year’s professional fee increase.  When moved across four years, we’re going to be up at about $150,000.  And we’ve looked, as we worked with our colleagues at Stanford and USC in Loma Linda on statewide diversity issues, at the fact that now a UC graduate is graduating with more debt than Stanford.  And that’s just stunning to most of us when we think of ourselves . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because Stanford steps in and covers all their costs, and the UC can’t possibly, I know, across the system.

DR. NATION:  Stanford, with its history, has endowment funds that many of our younger medical schools simply do not.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But Stanford also admits students that the UC medical schools don’t admit, and this is troubling.  It frustrates me when I see the GPAs and the MCAT scores of students that are having to go out of state.  They meet that threshold eligibility.  You know, they’re good enough to be accepted by schools out of state or even Stanford, and then, when they get into those schools, they work to keep them there—financial, remedial support systems.  The UC has fallen short over the years in meeting that goal.  I wish we could spend a whole hearing on those people who didn’t get into UC medical schools and had to go out of state.


You probably got in.  These are incredible providers of services.  I’ve been talking about a younger group of people over the years.


DR. NATION:  I think we’d love to participate in a hearing talking about students who we lose every year.  I served on the Admissions Committee as a student.  When I was at UCSF, I continued to work actively in admissions.  Each of our UC campuses receives between 3,000 and 5,000 applications individually from qualified students, and we have an entering class size of 100, at the small end, to 140, which means we turn away thousands of students with talent on an annual basis for reasons linked to capacity.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it’s a good place to close and open it up to questions, if Senator Vincent wants to weigh in.  

I think it’s not directly related but it’s indirectly related that issue of who is admitted and who’s trained and who California’s taxpayer-supported public institutions are admitting and what those objectives should be.  I think I drew from that sort of trying to get closer to admitting students that are more likely to go in these areas but not exclusively.  If we ever have the good fortune of seeing a medical school open—UC Merced or wherever—I hope that you come away with an understanding, at least in my view, that prioritizing that medical school to train primary care physicians and family practitioners primarily, if not exclusively, ought to be a laudable objective and goal that could go very far to serving our problems of the underserved in California.  


I also took the language of the UC document about those goals and objectives to serve Californians, and I incorporated it into my bill.  That goes to the admissions criteria.  If we could at least have some guiding principles over the years to have the regents consider certain elements in their admissions policies.  The mission of serving in our medical schools is:  development of an admission statement that reflects an institutional commitment to diversity and the underserved; selection of well-rounded students by elevating both academic factors and personal attributes within the context of the distance traveled by that applicant.  All of these are UC-stated objectives.  We took them out of your document.  They appeared in the IOM report in the nation’s compelling interests.

DR. NATION:  I and a colleague at Stanford and UCLA were coauthors of the paper in that book.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, why can’t we have the UC admissions policies reflect that:  selection of well-rounded students, elevating both academic factors and personal attributes within the context of distance traveled, ensuring admissions committees understand the role in relevance of grades and test scores in predicting future success in clinical settings, ensuring the careful assessment of personal qualities as a high-priority consideration of each candidate, appointment of admissions committee members who reflect the diversity that is being sought in the student body?  And I don’t mean just ethnic and racial diversity—although that goes a very long way—but economic diversity.  I mean, I continue to say that children of any color from poor communities—there are values that continue in a life.  Those should be part of the spectrum, along with straight GPA and MCAT scores.  But I think greater emphasis on this kind of cultural, economic, ideological background diversity would go a long way to addressing, I think, a problem we have in our society.

DR. DAVIDSON:  Could I address that very quickly, Senator?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please do.


DR. DAVIDSON:  After I stepped down as chair, I had the opportunity to pursue a research interest that I had.  Along with the associate dean for student affairs and myself, we did a ten-year retrospective study of Affirmative Action admissions at Davis, and we were able to track them from admission all the way through medical school. 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  What period of time did you look at?


DR. DAVIDSON:  We looked at 1967 to ’77 . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right before Bakke.


DR. DAVIDSON: . . . because we needed enough time after graduation to follow them through residency out into the community.  Yes, that was during the Bakke period and all of that, so Affirmative Action at Davis has always been controversial.  

But, in summary to you, number one, no question that if the faculty is willing to, it can change the admissions criteria to bring in a different type of student.  Number two, those students who came in under that Affirmative Action program struggled a little more during the first two years—no question—and there was a slight-to-moderate increase in the first two years of the Affirmative Action students.  Beginning the third year, that began a rapid change.  In fact, we found that Affirmative Action graduates were more likely to get Best Student, Most Outstanding Resident, whatever, along those lines, and the ultimate is a factor of major proportion in the percentage of those graduates who ended up practicing in underserved areas.  

So, it can be done, but it takes a concerted effort on the part of the faculty because the faculty and the University of California control the admissions.  And the president’s office is not going to dictate to the faculty.  You’ll have to somehow change the culture of the faculty itself or make it an incentive for them to do it, but it can be done.

DR. NATION:  And that comment’s better coming from Dr. Davidson than it is from me, but he’s absolutely right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  He really is, and it’s institution by institution and it’s faculty within those institutions.  I was an undergrad at UC Davis when the Bakke decision was moving its way through and when, in fact, Bakke entered the medical school.  So, I know.  I’ve seen a whole evolution, devolution in some respects, of where our public institutions are prioritizing, just given all the challenges that we face and fiscal challenges as well as case law.  But I just hope that we get a little closer to what should be the mission of a public-supported institution to deliver healthcare at a very, very critical time.  I mean, we may have lost the opportunity, given how far behind we are.


With that, let me just conclude, and I’m going to allow my colleague to wait; he’s been so good about sitting here in what I think is a very important hearing.  There are a number of places I think we can go to, and I hope that the UC would welcome this as an opportunity to work with, if not me as chair of this committee, then certainly others that have an interest in this area.


I’d like us to look at revisiting and reenacting what I believe are still the requirements of this MOU.  I certainly don’t expect an agreement or a position from the UC at this point.  But I have seen nothing in the MOU that suggests that those expectations and mutual obligations are not still in place.  When’s the last time we got a report on the performance?  Two thousand two.  So, we have yet to see a report on the terms and conditions of the MOU since ’02.  So, we’ve got three years of. . . . well, ’03 and ’04 that should be available to us.  I’d like the UC to consider gathering those numbers under the terms of the MOU.  It’s the opinion of this chair, certainly, that I think that MOU is in place.  If the UC wants to enlighten me and share with me why they believe it’s not in place, please do so.  So, again, reenacting the reporting requirements of the MOU, as I’m going to ask you to consider and take back to determine whether that can be possible.  

Secondly, I’d like us to consider revising the general and numerical goals of that MOU, now that we are more informed about its implementation, and/or creating a taskforce to evaluate the UC’s preparation efforts to address the physician workforce needs of the state, among other options.


I’d like all of you who have participated today to consider that as an opportunity.  I’d welcome any other recommendations that would help achieve, I think, these objectives and shed some light on an issue.  I’d like to leave a foundation or create some sort of structure of information or relationship that will be here long after I’m gone in perhaps others in either house or the interest groups.  I really welcome the Senate Budget Subcommittee looking at our only means of encouraging the UC to do certain things; not as a threat, but rather, again, as an opportunity to define those objectives and implement them.

So, I’m going to leave that as my closing comments.  I’m going to ask whether Senator Vincent or any members of the panel would like to comment.  I don’t think there’s any public comment.  Is there public comment out there?  No.  And just again extend the opportunity if you want to comment or close.  But more importantly, thank you for being very patient in a difficult discussion, and I apologize if Dr. Drake views this as somehow being problematic.  I’m simply trying to come to some meeting of the minds in what our mission should be as an institution and our relationship with the UC system and what they think their goal is to serve Californians in underserved areas.


Dr. Nation, would you . . . 

DR. NATION:  Yes.  I think the university would be very pleased and would welcome the opportunity to work with you and to work with your colleagues on a plan for addressing the needs of the state.  It has been the major focus of our office and our medical schools over the past five years.  We have a series of studies, Dr. Drake mentioned, that, through grant support, we funded the most comprehensive assessment of physician workforce needs in the State of California over the past ten years.  Those document facts come as no surprise, I think, to this group or to anyone here.  The population will grow in the Inland Empire and the Central Valley.  There are huge areas of unmet need there.  And those findings are the very same that are intended to inform the university’s enrollment planning.  

So, we feel very well prepared to come and talk about programs that you’ve heard that are pipeline programs, beginning in middle school, continuing in high school, continuing through the undergraduate program.  Our post-baccalaureate programs are essential in this area. The curriculum mission statements and training programs that we offer are a part of this.  And then, the findings that we believe ought to guide the university’s decision making for the state, being based on the workforce needs of the people of California, we’ve worked hard to try and identify those.  So, we would love to talk about best practices and share that information and work toward those goals.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  I’m going to go ahead and forward a series of questions.  I think we had forwarded them to Dr. Drake, and he may have not had a chance to address all of them.  But we’ll share with you . . . 

DR. NATION:  Can we wait until he comes back?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  That could be a while.  Is he coming back?


DR. NATION:  I’m not sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But we can forward them and hopefully begin defining the ongoing discussions and opportunities.


DR. NATION:  We’ll be happy to work on those.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you. 


Other closing comments?


DR. KUBOTA:  Very briefly, the issue of medical debt.  Physicians occupy a very honored position in society and make a very good living.  I think it would be gratuitous to say that medical debt in and of itself is a long-term problem for physicians.  However, the degree to which it causes them to change from what may be their passion in the care of people, I think that is where it interferes with their decisions and the outcomes for our Californians.  Medical physicians do well.  It’s not the debt itself.  It is the choices they make because of the debt.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I agree with you wholeheartedly.  Thank you.  It’s sad.  I mean, if ever there was a place to subsidize a societal value, I think it is in the area of encouraging more practitioners who are going to return to underserved areas or go to underserved areas.  So, exactly on point.


Any other panel participants?


Senator Vincent, any closing comments?


SENATOR EDWARD VINCENT:  I just want to say I want to thank you again for having these meetings.  It’s very enlightening.  I could say a lot but I won’t, but I wanted thank you for doing it.  I want to thank you for coming.  You did an outstanding job, and I think we should just go forward, don’t look behind, and just do what we have to do.  And we can do it as a team.  We’ll have to do it that way.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.

SENATOR VINCENT:  Thank you again for coming.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Thank you, as always, Senator Vincent.  You’ve just been so good.


With that, let me thank my staff.  They’ve worked really hard.  Let me thank Ms. Garcia.  She’s been awesome, tackling all these binders of work, and we look forward to further binders of work from her and others.

This committee hearing is adjourned.  Thank you all.
# # #
PAGE  
74

